7 7 S

£ )

PUBLIC INQUIRY INTO LIVERPOOL CITY COUNCIL

COMMISSIONED UNDER S 438U OF THE LOCAL
GOVERNMENT ACT 1993 (NSW)

PUBLIC HEARING
SYDNEY

FRIDAY, 21 NOVEMBER 2025
AT 10.18 AM

DAY 44

APPEARANCES

Ms T McDonald SC, Senior Counsel Assisting

Ms B Anniwell, Counsel Assisting

Mr D Parish and N Andrews, Counsel for Liverpool City Council
Ms C Hamilton-Jewell, Counsel for Mr P Ristevski

Ms K Richardson SC and C Palmer, Counsel for Mayor N Mannoun
Mr T Boyle, Counsel for Mr J Ajaka

Ms V Brigden SC, Counsel for Ms L. Myers

Any person who publishes any part of this transcript in any way and to any person contrary
to any direction against publication commits an offence against s 12B of the Royal
Commissions Act 1923 (NSW).

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3546 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

<THE HEARING COMMENCED AT 10.18 AM
MS McDONALD: Commissioner, I call Ned Mannoun.

COMMISSIONER: Come forward, Councillor. Well, we need to have the witness
affirmed first. Would you like to take an affirmation, Councillor, or an oath?

MR MANNOUN: Oath.

COMMISSIONER: Oath. Thank you.

<NED MANNOUN, SWORN

MS McDONALD: Please state your full name.

MR MANNOUN: My name is Ned Nader Khalil Mannoun.

MS McDONALD: You're known as Ned?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Your current occupation?

MR MANNOUN: Mayor of Liverpool City Council.

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, I first want to take you through some questions
dealing with your history of being involved with councils and also some of your
background. When did you first become involved in Local Government?

MR MANNOUN: In two thousand - sorry, in 1999. I was 17 years old. I was a
member of the Liverpool Youth Council - one of its founding members. In the
following year, approximately - or a while ago - I was the chairman of the Liverpool
Youth Council. In following years I was a member of Liverpool City Council's
Community and Recreational Panel as a community representative. In 2008 I was

elected as a councillor to Liverpool City Council.

MS McDONALD: All right. If I stop you there. When you were elected as a
councillor - that was in about September 2008?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Were you affiliate with any political party?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that was the Liberal Party?
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: When did you first join the Liberal Party?

MR MANNOUN: In approximately 2005.

MS McDONALD: I think we heard some evidence about this from Mr Harte. When
you joined, you actually joined the Young Liberals - or you joined the Liberal Party
but you'd become involved in activities of the party through the Young Liberals?

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, what was the question?

MS McDONALD: When you joined in 2005, were you - did you join the Young
Liberals?

MR MANNOUN: No.
MS McDONALD: So you joined the Liberal Party?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And as part of joining the Liberal Party at that point, did you also
become involved with the Young Liberals?

MR MANNOUN: No.
MS McDONALD: So just purely the Liberal Party?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, in 2008, when you were elected, did a - did one of the
major political parties have the majority of numbers on council?

MR MANNOUN: No.

MS McDONALD: So Labor and Liberal, the same numbers?

MR MANNOUN: I think Labor had five - had four councillors and the mayor.
MS McDONALD: Sorry, who did?

MR MANNOUN: The Labor Party had four councillors.

MS McDONALD: Plus -

MR MANNOUN: Plus the mayor was five. The Liberal Party had three. The
Liverpool Community Independents Team had two, and there was one independent.
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MS McDONALD: That council served from 2008 to 2012; is that correct?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And at some time during that council term, did you serve as the
deputy mayor?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And was that between about 2010, 2011?

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I finished when my son was born.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: I had to leave -

MS McDONALD: So about 2011?

MR MANNOUN: I had to leave the - I had to leave the delivery room just before
my wife gave birth to vote for the next - for the following deputy mayor. So that was
in September 2011.

MS McDONALD: Okay. The next term of council was 2012 to 2016?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: For that council, you were elected the mayor?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And, I take it, throughout your - the period of your involvement
with Liverpool City Council, it has always had that the mayor is elected by the
community?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And I - I'm sorry, I should have asked you - the ward that you
represented when you were elected in 2008?

MR MANNOUN: The South Ward.
MS McDONALD: And have you consistently represented the South Ward?

MR MANNOUN: I was only a councillor in the South Ward for four years.
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MS McDONALD: So from 2012 to 2016 you were elected the mayor?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then the next council term, which was 2016 but went, I
think, to about 2021 because of COVID -

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You didn't seek to be elected?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then your second period on council, when elections were
held towards the end of 2021, you stood for the position of mayor and you were

elected to that position?

MR MANNOUN: That wasn't my - well, it depends what you consider - what's your
definition of "period"? Because that was a third election.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, I'm looking at the election that occurred in 2021.
MR MANNOUN: Mmm.

MS McDONALD: So you remember I said to you there was a council term which
started 2016 and ended in 20217

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And it was a longer period because of COVID.
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: In the election at the end - towards the end of 2021, you stood
for election as mayor?

MR MANNOUN: Yes, on my second term as mayor and my third term on council.
MS McDONALD: Yes. And you were elected mayor for that term starting 20217
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then there were elections, again roughly, I think, last
September, in 20247

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3550 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MS McDONALD: You stood for election as mayor?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you were successful?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And the role of mayor at Liverpool City Council, it is a full-time
position?

MR MANNOUN: That is subjective.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: It depends on what - firstly, what you consider full-time, whether
40 hours or 60 hours, and it is also - there is no special provision that makes
Liverpool different from any other area within Sydney under the Local Government
Act.

MS McDONALD: All right. Do you receive a salary as mayor?

MR MANNOUN: An allowance.

MS McDONALD: An allowance. And how much is the allowance? Just roughly.
MR MANNOUN: The mayoral allowance or the mayor and councillor allowance?

MS McDONALD: Let's start with mayoral.

MR MANNOUN: I think the total is approximately 133,000 plus superannuation
plus vehicle.

MS McDONALD: And when you say the total, are you including mayoral and
councillor?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Moving away from your experience on council, more to your
experience outside council, have you any tertiary qualifications?

MR MANNOUN: I have a certificate - yes, Certificate IV in Small Business and an
honorary fellowship from Western Sydney University.

MS McDONALD: And the certificate in - was it small business?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Who awarded you that? Which institution?

MR MANNOUN: That was Mission Australia.

MS McDONALD: And when did you obtain that certificate? And again roughly.
MR MANNOUN: 2004.

MS McDONALD: All right. And your honorary fellowship at Western University,
is it a fellowship in a particular faculty or a particular area?

MR MANNOUN: It was in Western Sydney University, for leadership for the
people of Liverpool and Western Sydney.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Excuse me for a minute. Could you just - Mr Mannoun, as
you know, we're now in this bigger courtroom, which we're all very grateful for. The
acoustics are not terrific, so could I ask you if you can keep your voice up. I think
another problem is we've got many laptops and fingers tapping on laptops and people
might have some difficulty in hearing you.

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And what - sorry, work that you had undertaken before - well,
sorry, I withdraw that. In the lead-up to becoming mayor between 2012 to 2016,
what type of work were you doing?

MR MANNOUN: I was the CEO of a registered training organisation.

MS McDONALD: A registered training organisation?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And when did you finish being CEO?

MR MANNOUN: I sold the business in May 2011 and I continued working there as
part of the business for approximately 12 months, but I don't think that I was the
CEO during the time that it was sold. So at some point from May till - say, 12

months - I don't know exactly when, but I was not the CEO.

MS McDONALD: That first term of mayor, 2012 to 2016, were you undertaking
any work outside council?

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, which year?

MS McDONALD: The first period when you were mayor, 2012 to 2016.
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MR MANNOUN: I don't recall that [ was. I still had my company registered, but it
was not trading.

MS McDONALD: And when you say "my company", what was your company?
What was its name?

MR MANNOUN: What was its name? We Will Proprietary Limited.
MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, I missed that.

MR MANNOUN: We Will Proprietary Limited. And there was a - and there was
another company called the Renovation Partners.

MS McDONALD: Renovation Partners?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And potentially some other trust companies and stuff like
that.

MS McDONALD: And I take it when you told your business, if it was operating
through We Will Proprietary Limited, you didn't sell the business as part of selling
the shares of the company? The business was sold, in a sense, separately to the
company that was - your company that was operating the business?

MR MANNOUN: I - what was the question?

MS McDONALD: You said you sold the business.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You then said that you still - "my company was still registered."
You identified as one of your companies We Will Proprietary Limited. Was that the
company that, before you sold it, was operating your business?

MR MANNOUN: That was one of the companies. I can give you an example of the
corporate structure if you'd like, if that assists. So there was a - the registered training
organisation -

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - was in a company called Skills Training Australia Group. That
was the registered training organisation with the licence. And We Will - it had an
agreement between itself and We Will, and We Will employed everybody. And
Skills Training Australia Group was the company that was sold.

MS McDONALD: And, sorry, what was that company?

MR MANNOUN: Skills Training Australia Group.
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COMMISSIONER: What sort of training did it conduct?

MR MANNOUN: So we were working in traineeships mainly, in business,
hospitality. We also - that was our main focus. We did get on-scope qualifications. I
forget the - they were - they were actually related to the legal industry, but we never
were really successful in pursuing that course.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Now, as you've given evidence, 2016 to the end of 2021, you
weren't on council?

MR MANNOUN: Correct.

MS McDONALD: What - I assume you worked during that period?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What work did you do?

MR MANNOUN: I was employed by CBRE in commercial real estate, capital
markets.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, commercial real estate -
MR MANNOUN: Capital markets.

MS McDONALD: And where was CBRE located? Were they out at Liverpool or
were you working in the city or -

MR MANNOUN: The office - main office - [ was based in the Western Sydney
branch, which was in Parramatta, and then we did have a small satellite office in
Moorebank.

MS McDONALD: Now, you said you were employed there. What was your role?
MR MANNOUN: I was employed as an associate director.

MS McDONALD: And just again very briefly, what did that involve? What type of
work were you doing?

MR MANNOUN: In - well, it's not - I can't really explain it in simple terms.
Effectively, large commercial real estate transactions.

MS McDONALD: The employment with CBRE, did that occur for the whole period
to - I'm saying roughly - 2016 to the end of 2021?
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MR MANNOUN: No.

MS McDONALD: When did you start there? Sorry, when did you start at CBRE?
MR MANNOUN: October 2016, approximately.

MS McDONALD: And when did your employment finish?

MR MANNOUN: I think August 2018.

MS McDONALD: When you were working at CBRE, were you doing any other
work?

MR MANNOUN: No.
MS McDONALD: When you left in August 2018, did you get other employment?
MR MANNOUN: No.

MS McDONALD: So from 2018 until the election - I think was in about December
2021 - you weren't employed by anybody?

MR MANNOUN: Correct.
MS McDONALD: Were you engaged in any work, for example, via a consultancy?
MR MANNOUN: In my business, yes.

MS McDONALD: And was that - in your business, your business would provide
your services through a consultancy arrangement?

MR MANNOUN: What do you mean by "consultancy arrangement"?
MS McDONALD: All right. I withdraw the question. You said "in my business" -
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - you were performing work for other organisations; is that
correct?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: When you say "in my business", what was your business?

MR MANNOUN: So that company that was registered - Renovation Partners -
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MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - the name of it was changed to HKT Project Management
Group, and through that company I provided advisory consultancy services.

MS McDONALD: So roughly, if I'm an organisation and I want you to come and
provide some advisory services, [ would engage HKT Project Management?

MR MANNOUN: Technically, yes.

MS McDONALD: And then, strictly, HKT Project Management Group would then
say to you, "Go off and do some advisory work for my company"?

MR MANNOUN: It wasn't that big of a business, so we didn't have that many -
MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - meetings between ourselves.

MS McDONALD: I said it was a bit artificial.

COMMISSIONER: You might have been telling yourself, Councillor, to go and do
that?

MR MANNOUN: Pretty much.
COMMISSIONER: What sort of areas were you consulting in during this period?

MR MANNOUN: Property related project management, so - yes. So, effectively,
around providing advice to - from small - I remember there was - for example, there
was a local resident in Austral who had a block of land and wanted to know how to
maximise its use out of it, so getting a house and a granny flat and finding

the - project managing - management, the CDC process and so on and forth - so on
and so forth, and then others - conducting feasibilities on projects on values of land if
they want to buy something and -

COMMISSIONER: Larger scale?

MR MANNOUN: Large scale, yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: The work that you were providing - the advisory service work
that you were providing through HKT Project Management Group, did that work

continue until your election as mayor in December 20217

MR MANNOUN: Yes, it - it stopped. There's a - sort of a transition period as I was
approaching the election.
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MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: And then - but no new work started following my election.

MS McDONALD: And when you say there was a transition, because you were
going to stand for election as mayor, did the campaign take up most of your time and
energy?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: When did the transition commence in 2021? Again roughly.

MR MANNOUN: I'm not sure. October, November. There was - it was - because
there was COVID and lockdowns -

MS McDONALD: And also wasn't there an election that was going to be in July and
then that was cancelled?

MR MANNOUN: No.
MS McDONALD: It wasn't in 20217

MR MANNOUN: The election was always scheduled for September. I don't
remember a July election.

MS McDONALD: Okay. All right.
MR MANNOUN: I could -

MS McDONALD: Sorry. There was an election that I think was gazetted, and then
it was postponed to December.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you said that when - this transition, you stopped doing that
advisory service work. Does that company still exist?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And do you still provide any advisory services through it?
MR MANNOUN: No.

MS McDONALD: So that's - that - using that company to provide your advisory
services, that stopped in 2021, in the lead-up to the election?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS RICHARDSON: Can [ just raise one thing? In fairness to the witness, if this - I
don't know whether this is relevant - what my learned friend means by "in the
lead-up to the election". Like, what timeframe -

COMMISSIONER: Okay. That can be clarified.

MS McDONALD: Well, I was relying, Mr Mannoun, on your answer that - I think
you said there was that transition when you started concentrating totally on the
election campaign. Do you remember basically giving that evidence?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: If - and then I - and if I can just go back to - do you agree in
2021 there was an election - council elections were gazetted for a certain month and
then they were postponed until December?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: In - and, sorry, that's where I got July from. We actually do have
the government gazettes postponing the election if you want them brought up, but in
the election which - I think you were right - was originally scheduled for

September - had you been selected to stand for mayor in that election?

MR MANNOUN: What do you mean by "selected"?

MS McDONALD: Sorry, withdraw that.

COMMISSIONER: Was there a pre-selection process for you to stand as a Liberal
candidate for mayor in Liverpool?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: About when did that take place? Doing the best you can.
MR MANNOUN: August.

COMMISSIONER: August.

MR MANNOUN: Maybe late July, but I'm pretty sure it was the beginning of
August.

COMMISSIONER: Beginning of August?

MR MANNOUN: Beginning of August. Yes.

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3558 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

COMMISSIONER: All right. And that would have been for the gazetted September
election at that time, anticipated at least?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. The Liberal Party has challenges with Local Government
pre-selections and nominations.

COMMISSIONER: I wasn't necessarily going to raise it but I'm aware of it,
although not in Liverpool. So doing the best you can - I'm not sure much ultimately
will turn on it, but about when did you, sort of, wind down your consultancy work
and focus on the campaign in the lead-up to the December 2021 election?

MR MANNOUN: So obviously August is when I became a candidate, and I - I'm
not sure when we made the announcement. I'm assuming it was around that time. So
you could pretty much say it was around that period - well, obviously, the work - my
private work starts declining and I'm focusing on that, and it probably - if you were
to graph them out, you'd have them declining and this increasing and then - yes,
pretty much towards the election I'm - would barely be doing anything.

COMMISSIONER: And as I understood your earlier answers, you were completing
the work that you had on the books but you weren't necessarily taking any new work

during that period - that is, from the time you became a candidate for election in that

2021 election.

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Taking on - yes, there was no real - there was no real new
work, but I'd have to go back and check exactly.

COMMISSIONER: That's all right.

MR MANNOUN: But, yes, there was no time to really get into anything nitty-gritty
or meaty.

COMMISSIONER: But you - were you completing things that were on foot at that
time?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And, sorry, can I just confirm, your recollection is that you were
pre-selected to stand as mayor in about August?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And when I said "pre-selected", is that pre-selected by the
Liberal Party?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3559 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MS McDONALD: I just want to ask you some questions about the history of your
relationship with Councillor Ristevski.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Councillor Ristevski was previously a member of the Liberal
Party?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Was he active in the Liverpool area?
MR MANNOUN: What's your definition of "active"?
MS McDONALD: I take it you have branches?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Was he a member - to your knowledge, a member of the branch
within the Liverpool Local Government Area?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: When did you first meet him?

MR MANNOUN: [ think 2007.

MS McDONALD: You've given evidence that you were elected to council in
September 2008. In that election, can you recall whether Councillor Ristevski stood
for election?

MR MANNOUN: I think he did.

MS McDONALD: Can you recall whether he was successful at that election?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: He was?

MR MANNOUN: No, I can recall that -

MS McDONALD: Sorry. What's your recollection?

MR MANNOUN: He was unsuccessful.

MS McDONALD: All right. And then did he stand again at the 2012 council
elections?
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And when he stood in 2012, it was as an - with an affiliation
with the Liberal Party?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And he was elected a councillor during that election?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Outside your dealings with him with the Liberal Party, did you
have any other professional dealings or relationship with him?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And what was that?
MR MANNOUN: He was my accountant.

MS McDONALD: And for what period was he your accountant? Again, just
roughly.

MR MANNOUN: 2008 till 2015, maybe '14.

MS McDONALD: Okay. You had a falling out with him in about 2015?

MR MANNOUN: I'm just trying to see what the definition of "falling out" is.
COMMISSIONER: Did your relationship change in some way in 2015?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: How?

MR MANNOUN: To - how did it change or what changed?

COMMISSIONER: How would you describe your relationship with the councillor
up until 2015?

MR MANNOUN: Up till 2015 I would describe it as, yes, fine. No issues.
MS McDONALD: Sorry, fine, no issues?

MR MANNOUN: Fine, and no issues.
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COMMISSIONER: And did something change in about 2015?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What changed in 2015?

MR MANNOUN: There were accusations made by Mr Ristevski regarding an
interfaith event that council was hosting, and my - and me banning pork from that
function.

COMMISSIONER: And did that lead to a deterioration in your relationship?
MR MANNOUN: Yes, it did.

MS McDONALD: The deterioration in your relationship - you've given evidence
that, really, you had two relationships with him. You had the professional
relationship, where he provided accounting services to you and, I take it, your
company?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you also had a relationship with him that flowed from being
members of the Liberal Party and being members of the council from 2012 to
2016 - being affiliated with the Liberal Party.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did the - was there a deterioration in your relationship whereby
he provided you with professional services?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And did he stop being your accountant?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And there was a deterioration in your political relationship
as - both being members of the council?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: During that particular council, both of you served on the council
to the end of its term. You continued to be affiliated with the Liberal Party?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Did Mr Ristevski, during that council term, continue to be
affiliated with the Liberal Party?

MR MANNOUN: From the '16 to 21 term?

MS McDONALD: No, from the '12 to '16.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then is it - you've given evidence you didn't stand or you
didn't contest the 2016 election. Is it your understanding that Mr Ristevski also didn't
contest the 2016 council election?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, if we then turn to 2021, did Mr Ristevski run for
pre-selection in the Liberal Party for the mayoral candidacy?

MR MANNOUN: In 2021?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So did you?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you were successful in getting the candidacy.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Can you recall, was he - did he stand for, also, election as a
councillor? Sorry, in - the 2021 election, to your knowledge, did Mr Ristevski stand
or contest a councillor position?

MR MANNOUN: Do you mean pre-selection or election?

MS McDONALD: Well, okay, let's start with pre-selection.

MR MANNOUN: For pre-selection I believe he did.

MS McDONALD: And was he successful in getting pre-selection?

MR MANNOUN: No.
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MS McDONALD: In any case, did he stand for election as a councillor but as
some - | take it, excuse me, some form of independent?

MR MANNOUN: No, I don't think he did.

MS McDONALD: So -

COMMISSIONER: How does it work in your council, where there's a direct
election of mayor - do you stand as mayor and as councillor or just as mayor? Is it a

combination?

MR MANNOUN: Yes, it's an option to do one or the other. And I have - in the
times that I have contested the mayoralty, I have stood for both -

COMMISSIONER: For both?
MR MANNOUN: - councillor - yes.

MS McDONALD: Just on that, I think in the September 2024 election one of the
candidates who was standing for the mayor against you was Dr Betty Green?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: She wasn't successful with the mayoral candidacy, but she did
stand for election as a councillor and was successful there?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So for the 2021 to 2024 election, Mr Ristevski wasn't on the
governing body of the council?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But - sorry.

MR MANNOUN: It's very loud. Sorry.

MS McDONALD: No, it's not -

COMMISSIONER: It's all right.

MS McDONALD: I'll stop asking you a question. It's important that you remain

hydrated. Through that council term, did you observe that Mr Ristevski was still
involved within the community and with - commenting or dealing with council?
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MR MANNOUN: I noticed that he had joined the Nationals and had some
involvement with them, and he became involved in Liverpool around early 2023, in
the lead-up to the state election.

MS McDONALD: And when you said the Nationals, you're talking about the
National Party?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now - and I don't think that there is a necessity to get into the
details, but you commenced defamation proceedings against Mr Ristevski?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: The basis of the defamation claim, was that - and I'm just putting
it broadly, I don't think we need to go into the details, but was that some comments
that he made about you, but comments that he made as a citizen, not when he was a
member of council?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And again just the time period, you commenced those
defamation proceedings in 2023?

MR MANNOUN: When you say "commenced", does that mean from the concerns -
MS McDONALD: Filing a statement of claim.
MR MANNOUN: The concerns notice? I think it was earlier.

COMMISSIONER: Do you remember when the court proceedings were kicked off
by filing a statement of claim?

MR MANNOUN: I remember when they concluded. If I work backwards - it was in
September 24.

COMMISSIONER: They concluded?

MR MANNOUN: They concluded. Judgment was handed in December 24. So it
would have been some - I think, yes, then some time in 2023.

MS McDONALD: If it assists, I have the statement of claim. The first statement of
claim appears to have been filed around 22 August 2023. And then there was an
amended statement of claim, which appears to have been filed on the 12th of -
around 12 October - or 13 October, sorry, 2023. You don't -

COMMISSIONER: That accords -

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3565 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MS McDONALD: - cavil with that?

MR MANNOUN: It wasn't very successful, so I'm trying to forget about it as much
as [ can.

MS McDONALD: And I think, as you've given evidence, in November last year a
judgment was handed down, but you're - you were unsuccessful?

MR MANNOUN: I was unsuccessful with regards to -
MS McDONALD: The substantial harm element?

MR MANNOUN: Correct. Defamation was - they pleaded yes to defamation but no
to substantial harm.

MS McDONALD: Now, I'll come back to the relationship with Mr Ristevski in the
context of code of conduct complaints, but I just wanted to ask you a couple of
questions about, really, the way you approach your role as mayor. I take it you know
and have in your mind the particular principles for Local Government set out in the
Local Government Act?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I can bring them up if you want me to, but there's things like
guiding principles for councils, "The following general principles apply to the
exercise of functions by council," and they include things like providing strong and
effective representation, leadership, planning and decision-making. You know of
that?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And do you strive in your conduct to comply with that principle?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: There is:

"Councils should carry out functions in a way that provides the best possible value
for residents and ratepayers."

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And of course that's important, because - | know you get grants

from, ultimately, the Federal Government, et cetera, but a lot of the money you're
spending as a council come from rates?
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: There are also requirements to manage lands and other assets, so
that the current and future local community needs can be met in an affordable way?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: You should:

"Councils should act fairly, ethically and without bias in the interests of the local
community."

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And then:

"Councils should be responsible employers and provide a consultative and
supportive working environment for staff."

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Also there are - within the Act there are other requirements or
principles. For example, the demarcation between the governing body of council and
then the operational part of council?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you understand that distinction?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: In your words, what is that demarcation or distinction?

MR MANNOUN: So the role of the governing body ultimately is to set your CSP,
DPOP and employ the CEO, who will then go out there and deliver - set up the
organisation to deliver on those ambitions, if I can call them that, for the community.
The CEO then handles the day-to-day operations, to deliver those plans. The role of
the mayor has a distinct role from the role of the governing body with regards to -

MS McDONALD: Being a spokesperson?

MR MANNOUN: That is - I think that's 226(3) that talks about being a
spokesperson.

MS McDONALD: (3)(c)?

MR MANNOUN: But -
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MS McDONALD: Sorry.

MR MANNOUN: (3)(c). So then it talks about ultimately providing a - advice and
consulting with the general manager - the CEO with respect to implementation of the
plans, policies and procedures of council. And I think there's 15 points for the role of
the mayor that come into play with regards to that.

MS McDONALD: And the demarcation you describe - that the CEO then sets up
the organisation to deliver the, kind of, plans and policies that the government body
has set, that includes employing staff?

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, what - can you just repeat what you said about policies?

MS McDONALD: I thought you said that the governing - the CEO sets up the
organisation to deliver - I've got policies and plans of the governing body.

MR MANNOUN: No, policies is - if I said "policies" I was wrong. Policies is
a - policies is for the governing body -

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - to determine, not the - the CEO is to implement the policies.
MS McDONALD: Yes. I think that's - yes, I don't think we're at cross-purposes.
When you described that the CEO is to set up the organisation and deliver, it's
delivering the plans and policies that the governing body has set up?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And as part of that, the CEO employs the staff?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Under the Act, the staff should be employed on merit?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But the staff are very much - if we employ this demarcation
between governing body and the CEO, the staff are really under the umbrella and
jurisdiction of the CEO?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And again, requirements - for example, that the council should
act fairly and ethically and without bias - in perform your role as mayor, does that
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incorporate ideas of according procedural fairness to, I'll put it broadly, persons who
could be affected by decisions of council?

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, can you restate the question, please?

MS McDONALD: All right. Under the Act, the council's got to act fairly, ethically
and without bias in the interests of the local community.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Again, at a - put broadly, your understanding is that the
governing body should accord procedural fairness in making decisions - to the best
that they can?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Procedural fairness could be considering submissions from
members of the public?

MR MANNOUN: In a - when there is a -
MS McDONALD: A particular issue?

MR MANNOUN: Particular issue, yes. People would do that through
representations at a council meeting -

MS McDONALD: Yes.
MR MANNOUN: - in a public forum or -
MS McDONALD: I was about to raise the public forum. That's one way.

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Or when there is - items open up for exhibition, asking for
community consultant.

MS McDONALD: Yes. And that's all, in a sense, a form of procedural fairness?
You're setting out what is proposed or what is contemplated, and you're allowing
people to respond to it?

MR MANNOUN: I guess you could consider that as procedural fairness. Yes.
MS McDONALD: But also in decisions, for example, which may be affecting the
staff of the council - again, it's - you'd agree it's important that procedural fairness is

accorded to anybody affected by those decisions?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And we've heard a lot of evidence over the last couple of months
about the restructuring that's occurring, and that an inherent part of that is the
consultation with the workforce.

MR MANNOUN: Yes, that the CEO is - that the CEO does.

MS McDONALD: And the joint consultative committee meeting.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But also in decisions of the governing body, if it is going to
affect a particular person within council it is important that the governing body
accords procedural fairness to that person?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And, look, I didn't take you to the other principles, but, for
example, also in 8A there are principles which apply to decision-making by councils,

and they include that:

"...decision-making should be transparent and decision-makers are to be accountable
for decisions and omissions."

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And again, you try and comply with that principle in your role as
mayor?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right.
COMMISSIONER: Are you leaving the Act?
MS McDONALD: I was, yes.

COMMISSIONER: Councillor, can I just ask you a couple of things about 226.
And it might -

MS McDONALD: Would you like it brought up?
COMMISSIONER: Yes. Can we have it brought up, just in fairness to the witness.

MS McDONALD: This is INQ.012.001.0005. It can be live streamed. I think,
Commissioner, it's section 2267

COMMISSIONER: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: That's on page 183.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. All right. Might just make it a little - yes, there we
go. You've got that there on the screen, Councillor.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: And you've referred to a couple of these provisions already. I'm
just interested in what you understand them to contain and how you go about
performing these roles on a day-to-day basis. So you mentioned - or maybe it was
counsel assisting who mentioned 226(c):

"...to be the principal member and spokesperson of the governing body, including
representing the views of the council as to its local priorities."

Do you see that?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Are you familiar with that part of 226?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: What do you consider it entails for you, as mayor, on a
day-to-day basis?

MR MANNOUN: Just the (c)? Just section (¢)?
COMMISSIONER: Just at the moment. Yes.

MR MANNOUN: The - to be the - ultimately the forward-facing part of the
organisation. And I don't think they can be read - they - (c) needs to be read, I
believe, with (a) and (b), because ultimately - and I think they're kind of - when the
Act was changed in 2017, I think it was - there wasn't - I think there was only six
provisions, where - it's obviously been expanded a fair bit. And I think when you
look at it, sort of - in my view, how I've interpreted it - it sort of cascades down,
almost like, to - not counting the ones below it, but the most important is being the
leader.

And if you're then the leader and if you're promoting social cohesion, as in (b), yes,
then your - well, the leader - it only goes say that the leader then should be at the
front, speaking about council, what council is doing, and being that - I guess

the - what - the person that people associate with council by way of then - speaking
for that. And then what you speak about, obviously it's what - the governing body
and the policies of council - being consistent with that. But then there is the
day-to-day reality, where government makes a decision about X, then you need to
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respond immediately to that. So there is no - you can't go to council every five
minutes and get, "What do we think about this?" So -

COMMISSIONER: But I take it those responses to emerging issues - do you see
those responses as needing to be consistent with the strategic priorities that have
been adopted by the governing body to that point?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes, they do. And, you know, we had issues recently that
have been - social cohesion issues where myself, the mayor of Waverley and the
mayor of Inner West Council got together and we took a stand together. So that
would - fits in with numerous policies that council has. The challenge becomes - is
when it's, I guess - and a distinction is when you're - I guess you're personally getting
attacked, and then you're still labelled as the mayor and you're kind of defending
yourself, and that's where I think the things become a little bit blurry.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Could we just go over the page, please, Operator, to
(j). Can you tell me what you understand the role in (j) to encompass, at a day-to-day
level?

MR MANNOUN: I think this is one of the new provisions. I think, you know, when
you're advising, consulting and providing a strategic - strategic direction - I think that
"direction" is a very, probably, strong word in that - in that - to the general manager.
It's basically - if the community is exercising its will through the elected - through
the governing body, which they do at an election, that governing body then creates
those policies - you know, setting the budget. The operational arm has to deliver that,
through the CEO.

However, the governing body is still at the behest or under the - the community is
still holding the governing body to account. So in that scenario, it's not just set the
budget and walk away from it or set a policy and walk away from it, and I think the
mayor in this scenario is having that advice, consulting with regards to the

general - with regards to the general manager about those policies and ensuring that
being - they're adequately being applied.

And I think a lot of them as well - as, you know, there's a - legislation, I think it's
open to interpretation - interpretation of things. Sometimes it's not fully unpacked, so
what did the governing body mean about this, and I think - so I think there's that, sort
of, discussion and sort of a - ultimately, I think when these changes were made it's
about that sort of partnership you would say - or working with the general manager
in making sure the plans actually get implemented.

COMMISSIONER: The plans and policies and priorities adopted by the governing
body through the integrative planning and - and framework process?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: [s that what you mean?
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: And how does that play out on a day-to-day basis in your
interactions with the CEO?

MR MANNOUN: Mainly probably just a phone call, "How's things going?"
Checking up anything new that we need to know about. It's probably along those sort
of lines. And we would then probably - I think we've just set, I think, fortnightly
meetings, myself and the CEO. I know other mayors have weekly meetings with the
CEO and all the directors individually, one by one. So every mayor has a - sort of a
different way of doing things.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, in that last answer, when you referred to other
councils, did you refer to other councils having a weekly meeting with the CEO and
also with managers - or directors?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So there are numerous mayors - Sutherland Shire, I know
the previous mayor there. I know also the Hills - so they would have - it's the Hills
Shire Council. And I think even Hornsby Council would have a weekly meeting with
each director, one by one.

MS McDONALD: And, sorry, your understanding of that procedure in those other
councils is a meeting between the mayor, a director? Is the CEO present?

MR MANNOUN: I'm not -

MS McDONALD: Not too sure? Okay.

MR MANNOUN: - sure. Yes. From my understanding, sometime they are,
sometimes they aren't. I doubt that the CEO would be in meetings all day with the
directors.

MS McDONALD: But you haven't introduced that model in Liverpool? You -

MR MANNOUN: No, I - I - no, I haven't. And I - at one stage I was probably
having a - maybe a monthly meeting with directors.

MS McDONALD: You do that at the moment?
MR MANNOUN: No.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Excuse me for a minute.
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COMMISSIONER: [s that interface between the mayor and the general
manager - CEO, whatever description one wants to give it - important, in your view?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
COMMISSIONER: Why is that?

MR MANNOUN: The - I think in any organisation you have to make sure that,
obviously, people are working together. So I think that's the first and foremost
principle of achieving that. And I think whether it's a council or a board, you'd want
the chairperson and the general manager or the CEO working together at the same
line, because - if you have, for example, CEOs, I guess, wanting go in a particular
direction, that's fine if there is board approval to go in that direction or council
approval to go in that direction. So there's - they complement each other and they
should be seen as opportunities to - I guess for strength for the CEO, to work with
each other. And ultimately, yes, if you don't have - if that relationship isn't working,
then that's - usually creates turbulence, if I can call it that.

MS McDONALD: Could I just revisit your answer - and I think I did have problems
hearing you - in respect of 226(j). The reference to the implementation of the
strategic plans and policies of the council, what - what's your understanding of what
that covers or includes? Like, you've got your community strategic plan -

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - that the governing body resolved to adopt.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Is that an example of the one of the strategic plans?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What else under strategic plans and policies?

MR MANNOUN: So we would have, say, the service reviews, for example. I think
we have to do - was it six service reviews?

MS McDONALD: For service -

MR MANNOUN: Service reviews. So that's part of the planning framework. So
ensuring they get done and they get done in a timely fashion. So you would probably
communicate that, from time to time, how is that going, where is the progress on
that. When it gets down to a delivery plan or we're looking at the budget - you know,
how are we progressing with, you know, project X, is that moving on time, what's
going on, are there any issues with it. Local Government is the gift that keeps on
giving, so there's always an issue.
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MS McDONALD: Okay.
MR MANNOUN: And when you think you've heard them all, tomorrow happens.
MS McDONALD: All right.

COMMISSIONER: The service reviews, they're those areas within council
operations that the governing body has identified for particular review over a certain
period? I can't now remember whether it's the entirety of the plan or 12 months, but
that's what you have in mind?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, I want to move to the area of code of conduct
complaints. I'm sure you've been either watching or reviewing transcript of the
proceedings and you would know that the procedure at the moment is when we move
to some particular complaints we go into a closed session. I do want to take you to a
couple of specific complaints, but what I'm going to try and do is at this point ask
you some general questions and other questions about code of conduct complaints.
So we don't have to move into closed session, but if in answering a question you
think you need to refer to a specific complaint, please raise it and we can kind of
work out how to - how to schedule it ordeal with it, okay?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. As I said to you, we're interested in
code of conduct complaints. And a number of the complaints which have arisen this
year are associated with social media. You agree with that? When I say "social

media", for example, there's been a post on a social media account and that forms the
basis of a code of conduct complaint.

MR MANNOUN: From the -
MS McDONALD: Do you see where I'm going?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And I'm aware because I have seen the documents that have
been uploaded.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Your -

COMMISSIONER: Is - sorry to interrupt. Just pause there. Your awareness of that
only comes through the evidence in this inquiry; is that right?

MR MANNOUN: I'm - yes, the - the quantity, the specific issues is from that.

COMMISSIONER: Yes.
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Because some of those matters haven't come to council yet,
have they?

MR MANNOUN: None of them have come to council yet.

COMMISSIONER: Other than a general headline number and costs and things like
that?

MR MANNOUN: Correct. Yes.

COMMISSIONER: All right. So we might just -

MR MANNOUN: But I do know that there is a deterioration of behaviour online.
MS McDONALD: All right.

MR MANNOUN: That has been brought to my attention by numerous people in the
community.

MS McDONALD: And again, at a general level, there have been some social media
posts which have prompted you to raise code of conduct complaints?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What's your presence on social media?

MR MANNOUN: As in what - Facebook and Instagram and LinkedIn.

MS McDONALD: All that sort of stuff?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Do you have a Mayor Mannoun Facebook page?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: We've heard some evidence about other councillors - for
example, Councillor Peter Harle said, "I've got the Councillor Peter Harle Facebook
page." Our understanding of that is that it's a Facebook page which isn't controlled
by council.

MR MANNOUN: I -

MS McDONALD: Sorry, I'll start again. You have Mayor Mannoun Facebook page.

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3576 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Is it, in a sense, your Facebook page? It's not controlled by
council?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But you're - in a sense, because you're the mayor you're allowed
to title the Facebook page Mayor Mannoun Facebook page?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. Also in your role as the mayor, do you have Instagram?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Twitter or X or whatever it's called?

MR MANNOUN: There is a - there's an account that's lying there - it's that - it does
exist, but I don't use it.

MS McDONALD: You don't use it? Okay. And is that a Mayor Mannoun account?

MR MANNOUN: I do not know. The only time I've logged into it is when
somebody sends me something on Twitter to look at, which is very rarely -

MS McDONALD: Okay. (Crosstalk). But you use it like a - as a way to get into
Twitter to look at something?

MR MANNOUN: Very, very, very rarely.

MS McDONALD: And any other Facebook - not Facebook, sorry - social media
that you use in your capacity as the mayor?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So there's my Instagram account, my Facebook page Mayor
Ned Mannoun, and then there's my personal Facebook page, and then there is my
LinkedIn.

MS McDONALD: Okay. In addition, there is a Liverpool City Council Facebook
page?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: But that Facebook page is controlled by the council?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: But as we've seen, in your role under section 226(3)(c) as the
spokesperson of the council, often you are depicted or referred to in posts on that
Facebook page?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. With other councillor Facebook pages - so I'm talking
about Facebook pages which - for example, with Councillor Harle - are actually in
the name of Councillor Peter Harle. Have you got access to all of those or have you
been blocked by anybody?

MR MANNOUN: All of the councillors' pages?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: I don't know who - if I've been blocked by everyone. I know I
have been blocked by a councillor.

MS McDONALD: Right. Who was the councillor who's blocked you?
MR MANNOUN: Councillor Peter Ristevski.

MS McDONALD: Does the council subscribe to something like a media monitor
facility?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: As part of subscribing to a media monitor facility, particular
items that may be on social media, are they included in that?

MR MANNOUN: I don't know.

MS McDONALD: All right. You've got access to the media monitor?

MR MANNOUN: What's your definition of "access"?

COMMISSIONER: My understanding is that you might get a daily report of
articles or radio interviews or TV stories. Do you get something like that? A daily
email -

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: - with, "Here's all the references that we've picked up"?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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COMMISSIONER: And do you recall whether any of those touch on social media
as opposed to what some might call traditional media?

MR MANNOUN: No, I don't recall. I do have Google alerts, which are probably
coming through with some social media now, which is something they never did
before. But that's not through council.

COMMISSIONER: That's something you've set up yourself?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So finding out about if there's been some social media
commentary or posts about you in your role as mayor or as a member of the council,
how do you find out about them?

MR MANNOUN: To give you an example, this morning, as I was coming here, if
you like? So I was on my iPad, because I don't have social media - I don't try to carry
with me. So [ was on my iPad. Notification just pops up on the screen, "You've been
mentioned in a post," and I click on that and that was a Facebook - and that took me
to a Facebook - a community Facebook page, where it was said - along the lines of
the words - there was a picture of a Christmas tree and it said that, "Remember this
next time you're voting for the mayor. All he has done for Christmas is put up this
tree. He spends more money on Ramadan than he does on Christmas."

MS McDONALD: What I'm interested in - you said that you were on your iPad and
something popped up, saying you've been mentioned in a post.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: How do you get the pop-up of, "You've been mentioned in a
post"? Is that your Google alert?

MR MANNOUN: No.

MS McDONALD: Well, how's that facilitated?

MR MANNOUN: So it would be a Facebook alert - notification.
MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: When you download an app it says, "Would you like notifications
enabled?" Then they just start popping up whenever.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And your alert is, what, when you're mentioned?

MR MANNOUN: I don't think you actually set the alert as such. Different from
Google, where you - so I have Google on my name - an alert on that. But I think the
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Facebook and dare I say the Instagram ones are just - they alert you when they want
to alert you, whatever - whatever their settings are.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Is it alerting you to posts on a particular - you referred to a
community Facebook page.

MR MANNOUN: I think - so people can tag me. It's - I think you can - that's

a - something you turn on or off. That's a setting I'm aware of. So if [ am tagged in a
post, that would come up. And that could be, sorry, not only just the post but also a
comment.

MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me for a minute. We usually have a morning
tea break around this time. We started a little bit late. Are you okay just to keep on
going for about another five or 10 minutes?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, I just first want to ask you some general questions about
the code of conduct. We've heard some evidence of induction training that was
provided to the members of the new council - and again, I think it was in maybe
about January of this year. Do you know of that induction training that was
provided?

MR MANNOUN: I remember training in October. I think it was not long after -
MS McDONALD: Can you - [ might be a bit confused. Can you excuse me. I'm
sorry, Mr Mannoun. | had it in my mind it was in January, but you could be

correct - in October. It was a one-day training, described as induction for councillors.
Did you attend?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And did you attend for the whole day?

MR MANNOUN: So the confusion is that I think there was different training
sessions. So I don't know exactly which specific one you're referring to, but there
was an induction training session which did go through code of meeting and code of
conduct.

COMMISSIONER: Have we got the agenda?

MS McDONALD: I think was - that's what I was after.

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: It was the one held - the one that's fresh in my mind is the one
that was held in the council chambers.
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COMMISSIONER: No, I think you might be at cross-purposes.
MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: There was one at an external venue as well, which I've seen
some evidence about. It's all right. We'll get the agenda and then we'll make sure
we're all on the same page.

MS McDONALD: Would you just excuse me for a minute. We'll come back to that,
Mr Mannoun. Can you bring up, please, LCC.001.004.0003. And it can be live
streamed. Can you see there Councillor Induction, 15 October 20247

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we'd go to page 2. That was the agenda. And you can see
after the break for lunch we've got two sessions for code of conduct and Code of
Meeting Practice.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And it would appear that somebody from Local Government
Services Group has been engaged to come and present for those two sessions?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Did you attend that - first, did you attend the induction?

MR MANNOUN: The 9 o'clock session? I was here at that day. I don't remember
exactly what time I did turn up.

MS McDONALD: All right. So you attended some of it?

MR MANNOUN: I can say yes to that. I may have done the whole thing, I just - I'm
unable to specifically recall.

MS McDONALD: All right. The part that I'm interested in are the sessions after
lunch, dealing with code of conduct and Code of Meeting Practice.

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I attended that.
MS McDONALD: You attended those. Can you recall, in those sessions, did
they - did the presenter raise social media? Use of social media, how it might interact

with the code of conduct?

MR MANNOUN: I think so.
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MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me.
COMMISSIONER: Was this what you referred to as being done in the chamber?

MR MANNOUN: Yes, the October - just before we started our - before we had our
first meeting.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Look, I'll just bring something up. We won't live stream it.
LCC.001.004.0002. I'm just being very, very cautious when it comes up. You can see
it's the - it appears to be the attendance sheet for the induction training. Can I just

say - we can ultimately redact the signatures, but I don't -

COMMISSIONER: I see.

MS McDONALD: I don't know whether there's a problem in live streaming it at the
moment.

COMMISSIONER: Let's just proceed.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Can you see that's the code of conduct, Code of Meeting
Practice training and it appears to be an attendance, I'm sorry, sheet?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Your name and signature appears at the top?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But noted next to it is that you left at 3 pm?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So if we cross-reference that back to the agenda, if we can - have
you still got that at the ready? Go down towards the bottom. It would appear that you
were there for the first session - that probably went to 2.45, before 3, but you weren't

there for the second session.

MR MANNOUN: Looking at the sign-in sheet, it says that Councillor Karnib
walked in at 3.15. I distinctly remember being there when Councillor Karnib had
walked in.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

COMMISSIONER: Do you remember whether you were there until the end of the
day or did you have to leave slightly early?
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MR MANNOUN: I - I don't have a memory of the beginning of the day, but I do
remember at least being there for the - most, if not all, of the code of - the latter
session.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, could you repeat that? You remember -

MR MANNOUN: So I remember being there for that session, because I
remember - I can - [ remember the slides that were put up.

MS McDONALD: And when you say "that session", the session includes code of
conduct and Code of Meeting Practice - so the session dealing with both of those
codes? Where you - when you were there, both codes were discussed?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So I don't know - remember exactly when I left, if I stayed
for that whole thing, but I distinctly remember that part of the day. A lot of - and I
remember not going to a lot of the beginning because this was - as a continuing
council - councillor, there was a lot of things, I guess -

MS McDONALD: You knew?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And was that particularly for the morning sessions?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: We've heard them described as the various directors coming
along and explaining what they actually do or their directorates do.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: So that would probably be something you were well aware of?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, with the code of conduct and Code of Meeting
Practice - with the code of conduct, do you recall whether social media was raised?

MR MANNOUN: I can distinctly remember the code of meeting being discussed,
and I have a vague recollection of the code of conduct and talking about social
media, but I can't be exactly sure.

MS McDONALD: All right. My next question is can you elaborate on what was
discussed or what was said? Can you assist us with that?
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MR MANNOUN: Like, what I remember was the - the training with regards to the
Code of Meeting Practice was not as in-depth as it had been in previous terms - so in
regards to what we did after the '21 election - because in my mind I sort of
commented about that.

MS McDONALD: You what, sorry?

MR MANNOUN: I commented about that in my mind.
MS McDONALD: All right.

MR MANNOUN: Which is why I remember that.

MS McDONALD: Can I just pause there. I'd like to come back to that, but can I just
finish with the code of - what you can remember with the code of conduct during this
session. You've - you've got a recollection that it was discussed - and social media in
the context of the code of conduct was raised?

MR MANNOUN: Vaguely, yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. But you can't really assist in what was said or how the
interrelationship between the two, the code and social media, was discussed?

MR MANNOUN: I can't specifically say that stands out in my mind.

MS McDONALD: Just while it's in your mind, even though it's off topic, your
comment about - you thought the instruction on Code of Meeting Practice was better
when you did this induction training back in - after the 2021 election?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What was the difference? Why did that - what led you to have
that thought?

MR MANNOUN: It'd be two things. In - when did we do it? I think we did it in
January '21 - 22 at this stage, because the - the '21 election was on December 4. [
think the polls were declared on - sorry, the declaration was the 21st, I think, for the
mayor, 22nd for the councillors. And then I remember getting COVID, and then in
January everyone had COVID, so that's when we had that, sort of, super - I think the
election was a super-spreading event, but anyway - in January we got together.

I remember being - sitting in the Casula Powerhouse - or now the Liverpool
Powerhouse - in the - I think it's the - yes, the little performance hall we had there,
and we did a mock council meeting. I think it was run by Marsdens at that time, and |
think that Marsdens provided that as a free service to council they had previously - or
whatever they did, I think it was -
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MS McDONALD: When you say Marsden, is that Marsden Lawyers or is it
another -

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.
MS McDONALD: - Marsden -
MR MANNOUN: Marsdens Lawyers, yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And the mock - excuse me. The mock council meeting,
did it go through - like, it was a pretend council meeting. Somebody would, for
example, move a notice of motion, somebody else might raise a point of order, a
foreshadowed motion. So it went through possible events that would occur during a
council meeting?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you thought that was beneficial?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: It might be obvious, but why? What -

MR MANNOUN: So training - so I have a background in training. Making it
interactive, I think, is - helps solidify information, being - versus, I guess, being
spoken at for a long time versus, like, "Well, here's information. Go and enact it."

COMMISSIONER: Death by PowerPoint, I've heard said in other contexts.

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So there's that element of it. And then, once again, putting it
into place - and then it's fun, because I think the - one of the motions that was moved
was on something very ridiculous, so we all had a good laugh about it, which, once
again, provides a positive feeling. It allowed me to get back into - you know, I hadn't
chaired a meeting for -

COMMISSIONER: Five years or -

MR MANNOUN: - five years, something like that, and I've - and I did some
calculations. I think I've chaired probably 300 hours of meetings so far in my life, for
some reason, but anyway - so I guess going there and being - being involved - we're
getting back into it, we're moving in amendments. I think we did a bit of
foreshadowed motions - we had a bit of that. It got everybody on the same page, and
I think the councillors enjoyed it, because, once again, there was - there was humour,
there was interaction. And I think we even assembled slightly - well, I think just the
nature of the room is that we were kind of assembled in a - sort of a council meeting.
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COMMISSIONER: So from that, I take it - and do correct me if I've
misunderstood - two prime benefits. One, the practical skill learning element of
having a go, making a mistake, being pointed out where things went well, where
things didn't go so well - that embeds that learning better than looking at it on a
screen, in your view?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: But also the enhancement of the collegiality of the group in
doing that together?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And then we - [ remember it being referred to during the
term as well, because it became a - sort of a source of, sort of, truth for us all - we

would - we could go back to that. So yes, that was - that was good.

COMMISSIONER: Do you mean someone - an issue might arise and say, "Well,
remember when we did this in the session? This is how it played out"?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: That sort of thing?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: [s that a convenient time?

MS McDONALD: Yes. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER: Councillor, we're going to take a mid-morning break for about
20 minutes. Feel free to step outside, get some fresh air, and I'll see you back here at
just before 10 past 12.

MR MANNOUN: Lovely. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. I'll adjourn until 10 past 12.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 11.49 AM

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 12.17 PM

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, I want to turn to the code of conduct and just ask
you some questions about your understanding of it and also, in a sense, your

interpretation and how you would apply it in practice. All right?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Just with regards to the - before we went on break, the
answer that I gave had two parts and I'd only given one part of it.
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COMMISSIONER: Okay.

MS McDONALD: Okay. I'm sorry, I -

COMMISSIONER: I can't now remember the question, but -

MR MANNOUN: It was - I think it was why did I find the training session better -
COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - or worse.

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: Or compared to that one. So I - the first part of my - well, we
discussed about the role-play and all that. The second part was regards to, I guess,
the depth of the information that we were given, and the - I guess it's always - we
probably needed a bit more meat on the bones, if I can use that terminology, versus a
very - very light interpretation of - I don't know how many pages the Code of
Meeting Practice is, but it's - I know there's a -

COMMISSIONER: Many. Many.

MR MANNOUN: Many. And there's a lot in there. And I guess what I find probably
a little bit challenging is that - I've always wanted a bit more in-depth - you know, an
in-depth sort of analysis and questions where - you get the weird ones, so - yes,
which aren't usually - covered in a very light touch, "Here's the Code of Meeting
Practice. This is how it works." So -

COMMISSIONER: So did you get that in the 2021, '22 induction or were you still
looking for more?

MR MANNOUN: At that point in time I was - in '21 I was satisfied with what we
received. Chairing meetings for, I guess, two years and nine months since that point,
I guess I want a bit more - an advanced learning. And I had think the challenge that
we generally have as an industry is that when you're - you're giving a council who's
just been elected training and then putting someone who's been there for numerous
years the same training - you know, you're not really getting - you're not really
capturing the needs or the wants of what - those people who have been there for a
while. It's like, "We've heard this before," or - I'm not saying there's nothing new to
learn, far from it, but it'd be more about, yes, having a more advanced training
program.

COMMISSIONER: Do you think there would be benefit in - building on from
that - there being some targeted training to mayors and deputy mayors on the Code
of Meeting Practice, chairing skills, how to deal with the curly ones, in addition to
the sort of general training for councillors that we've discussed?
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.
COMMISSIONER: Why do you think that would help?

MR MANNOUN: I think the - through longevity, you find - you get different things
that happen, and it's - and I think we heard about that only a couple of days ago, but
there - it's, "So how do you prepare for these situations and get ready for them?" So
it's exactly that, "Okay. Well, that curly one, how do you deal with it?" And I think
that's always - would be beneficial. And I guess generally, as an - one thing that we
don't have is CPD.

You know, we have no obligation - the only obligation placed on us as councillors is
"take your oath". If you don't take your oath you're not allowed to sit in the chamber.
So that's great, no worries, but it's like, well - you know, like any industry, if you
don't conduct a certain amount of in training then you shouldn't be allowed to sit in
the chamber. You've got keep your skills up to date and in-depth.

COMMISSIONER: Do you think there'd be benefit from some ongoing
training - I'll put it at the level of obligation and we'll go from there, but obligation
on councillors to -

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Indeed. And it's - and ultimately it's enforceable in the sense
that if you don't conduct it - if you don't get your CPD points, then you shouldn't be
sitting in the chamber. That's the - like, I - if a real estate agent doesn't do their
points, then they're not allowed to practise.

COMMISSIONER: How do you see that sitting with the - the balance between
some of - you when - well, you when you were a Councillor - not so much as a
mayor, | understand, but your fellow colleagues who have professions outside of
council and are balancing that with their Councillor responsibilities. How do you - it
might be suggested to me that that would be an undue obligation on a councillor.
What would you say to that?

MR MANNOUN: I would say that if you're getting - if you're putting your hand up
for public office, especially as a councillor, that you - it is going to consume time.
Yes, we know we have the obligation of the council meeting for five hours, the - or
have - there is briefing sessions, committee sessions and all that.

So I remember in my first term we tried to align - sorry, my first term as mayor - we
tried to align the committees all on one day, so therefore, you know - councillor, yes,
you're busy, right? So - but if you take this one day off every month, that will be
enough to really put you into what's going on at council, versus I know - and to go to
your point, when I was a councillor and I was running up - running my business, we
had around - between contractors and employees around 15 people, and having that
break in the middle of the day, where you have to leave what you're doing, go in
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coming back - you know, it puts you out for three, four hours of the day, half a day
for a - one thing, whereas if they were organised it'd be better.

So I think, in reality, you need to allocate time. It's going to take at least one day a
week. [ know Councillor Macnaught, when she was elected in '21, she rearranged her
schedule, where she has every Tuesday off, and I know that because then we started
having our meetings on that day, because - and I think at that time she was probably
the only person who was really full-time employed. So it worked very good in that
sense.

COMMISSIONER: Coming back to training for - targeted training for mayors and
deputy mayors, what sort of things do you think would assist you in the performance
of your role if there was a targeted training package like that?

MR MANNOUN: It - yes. And I think training package is the key word. You know,
when we do training under the AQTF it was about - you'd have a training package
and you would go out there and eventually get a qualification to a different - to
different modules. And, you know, you want to - and when the reforms were done,
the - for the future reforms, they did have the - I think - it escapes me, the

name - there was a qualification created - and I'll remember it shortly - to deal with
this, to an extent. But I think -

COMMISSIONER: [s that one delivered through - is it the Institute of Company
Directors? There was a course. Were you speaking of something different?

MR MANNOUN: I think it was through a university.
COMMISSIONER: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: I'll think of it in a moment. So they - so - but that course
ultimately was, I guess, sort of in response to that, but there's no obligation for
councillors to do it. So you'd - I mean, obviously you - your company

directors - obviously that's a sort of a - a base foundation, because you are - whilst
you're not a director, you are almost like a director. And then you would have

only - yes, subject to - you would have elective modules that would say, well, if

I - I'm chairing meetings, so I need really in-depth - from a person who has chaired
meetings, some - someone who can answer all the curly questions and go into depth
into that.

Others may have more of a - say, someone who is on the budget and finance
committee would want to have stronger financial acumen verses the baseline - you
shouldn't have that as a baseline, but there definitely should be an opportunity on
there, and - and I think, ultimately, that - when you're - you know, we aren't investing
enough in training, in my particular view of the world, but going - if you're saying to
someone you'll be a councillor - yes, it's going to take time, and the reality is you
need to do CPD points, and if you do it properly, maybe put a bit extra into it, you
can end up with some formal level of qualification.
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MS McDONALD: And just before we leave training, you mentioned time restraints
on councillors who have full-time employment. The beauty now of training is often it
can be done online; that's correct?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And even though an imposition may be on their private life - but
if you can undertake training online - you know, after work, weekend, et cetera?

MR MANNOUN: Yes, there's ample opportunities for people to be trained.

COMMISSIONER: Have you had - sorry, Ms McDonald. Have you had
discussions with your counterparts in other councils about the issue of training for
mayors, deputy mayors and councillors?

MR MANNOUN: It's always fun when you get a group of mayors together. I'm not
sure what we're referred to - I think a - we're called a - been "rabble" at some times,
and there's - there - I'm just trying to think if we've had any specific -

COMMISSIONER: If you can't, that's okay. I was just curious - just to see whether
you're aware of the views of your counterparts.

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I know we do discuss it - I think for a couple more days on
the board of LGNSW, so I know we do discuss it. We discuss it there in LGNSW.
One of its prime sources of income is of the - the training programs. What's
interesting, though, is that when you look at the results that we get for the surveys
that we do at LGNSW, the staff of councils find LGNSW very valuable, very
helpful, where councillors have a - sort of a negative view of the organisation or

a - of what it delivers. Not about the people but just the value for money. And I think
that reflects the staff getting - they're getting probably more out of it than what
councillors are.

COMMISSIONER: In terms of training or other operations?

MR MANNOUN: I would say mainly the training, the networking, probably - yes,
it's about that. I'm trying to remember the slides - what they spoke to us about
specifically. Yes.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Yes. Sorry.

MS McDONALD: Now, if I can take you back to the code of conduct, there are
some provisions in it that [ want to ask you some questions about. We'll bring up the
version which is in INQ.001.001.1134. It's not the current one, but part 3, general
conduct obligations, is the same. It can be live streamed. And can we bring up page
6, please. These are the general conduct obligations. You - and, sorry, I withdraw
that. Under General Conduct, you can see it says:
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"Y ou must not conduct yourself in a manner that (a) is likely to bring the council or
other council officials into disrepute."

Do you see that?
MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: That provision, particularly bringing in - "likely to bring the
council or other council officials into disrepute", what's your understanding of
"disrepute"? What type of conduct does it cover?

MR MANNOUN: In general terms, I would say - and this is probably very, very
broad - painting them in a bad light. Or - and then that would be - bringing of the
council, that - I would interpret that as - one part of it is your individual actions - that
could be done by - if you're going out - if you're wearing a uniform, for example, of
council or you have your council hat on, if I can use that terminology, and you do
something, then it's a reflection of the organisation.

MS McDONALD: All right.
MR MANNOUN: Yes. So the -

MS McDONALD: So that example - off the top of my head, if you had somebody
working in the parks who had an LCC high-vis vest on and acted in a particular way,
that may lead to painting the council as a whole in a bad light, in your words?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: But also - and when I said - referred to the hat, I kind of - I
more - for example, if myself or Councillor X did something, whilst we're not
physically wearing a uniform -

MS McDONALD: Yes. Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - we are branded - with Liverpool on us. Our behaviour would - if
we conduct ourselves in a bad fashion, could potentially bring council into that
negative light. The other part of it is - or other council officials, as I guess - maybe an
action that someone - that you - once again, a - someone who is part of the council,
subject to the code of conduct, may have said about someone else. So probably the
best example of that - and that's in here somewhere - is when you accuse someone of
breaching the code of conduct, that in itself is a breach of the code of conduct. But I
think - and that relates - and one interpretation, I believe, into the second part of (a).
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MS McDONALD: All right. What about circumstances where - and I'm bringing in
social media now - there is a post which criticises the council? Does that come
within "likely to bring the council into disrepute"?

MR MANNOUN: That could, yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And when you say it could, in what circumstances could it
bring the council into disrepute?

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, could you rephrase that a little bit?

MS McDONALD: Well, I said - if you imagine a social media post which is critical
of the council -

MR MANNOUN: Mmm.
MS McDONALD: - your answer was that could bring the council into disrepute.
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And can I just follow up with that - when you answered in that
way, "could bring the council into disrepute" - hence it could come within 3.1(a)?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes. So - thank you, that was helpful. An example would
be - I'll use - actually, I'll use a real-life example, if I can. If we go back to early
2022, there were three floods in six months in Liverpool, and obviously a copious
amount of rain. That led to a drop in service levels, i.e. the grass got very long,
because there was a lot of rain, a lot of sun, and we couldn't cut the grass because the
ground was just so damp. Now, going out there, let's say myself - let's say it's myself
in this situation, where I would say, "The grass is long. We know things aren't as
good as they are" - you know, in - "We're not doing as good as we should," right? If
you - if that was stopped right there, then that could bring council into disrepute.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: Because it's saying it in a negative light, right? But then, when it
continues on, we acknowledge the problem and we are doing everything we can to
fix it, to make things better - now, someone can turn up and say, "You're saying
negative things about council." On the other hand, it's actually being transparent and
open and honest with the community.

MS McDONALD: All right.

MR MANNOUN: And acknowledging that we've done something, that we can do
better.

MS McDONALD: The first part of it, the grass is long and it hasn't been cut -
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MR MANNOUN: "We haven't been doing good enough."

MS McDONALD: Or, "We haven't been doing good enough." If you stop there, that
is a - factually correct?

MR MANNOUN: Probably a bit of subjectivity in there, but generally speaking -
MS McDONALD: Well, I suppose "grass is long" -
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - is factually correct. "We're not doing the best that we can," an
expression of an opinion?

MR MANNOUN: Yes, an opinion. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And an opinion which has some basis?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: If the post or comment stopped there, why is it bringing the
council into disrepute? Because it is fact - part of it is factually correct, and the
second part of it is an opinion and an opinion which is based in - if I can describe it
as being, in a sense, legitimately held?

MR MANNOUN: Through, I guess, interpretation of different levels of the
organisation - you know, it could be viewed as a critique of the operations of council,
of the CEO - ultimately, the person responsible from the governing body's point of
view, or some - cascading down to the director, to the manager, to the actual person
cutting the grass.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: They could see that as - yes, potentially.

MS McDONALD: It's critical?

MR MANNOUN: It's critical.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: It's - yes. And then why - they would say, "Well, why would you
have said that in public?"

MS McDONALD: Because it's a - potentially it's a matter of community concern.
Community may be raising that the grass is too long and what's going on. So it's part
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of that idea of the - in a sense, the marketplace of ideas and debate being generated
about a particular political institution and its conduct. So as I said, where part of it's
factually based and there is, in a sense, a legitimate basis for an opinion - you might
not agree with the opinion, but there's a legitimate basis for that opinion to be
expressed. Why should that be bringing the council into disrepute so that potentially
it's a breach of the code of conduct?

MR MANNOUN: And I guess that's why I used the term that it could - or it

could - I think it - my words - that it could be interpreted that way by some. And then
it would go through the process and people would determine that. But I

can - let's - I'll go - I can use the example that I've mentioned earlier. That happened,
once again, to me this morning. It was not posted by a council official, but let's just
say that we took that post as fact, "The Muslim mayor is spending more on Ramadan
than on Christmas." Now, if we pull up the budget, that could be a fact, but I think a
statement like that, if it was posted by a councillor, would be bringing the
organisation into disrepute because of its motive, its intent and what it's implying.

MS McDONALD: I didn't want to get into that latter example yet because I accept it
can be more problematic. Can I return to it a little bit later?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But my kind of starting point - and this is something that's been
raised throughout the inquiry - is where a comment is made which is factually based
but is critical of council, why - it appears that at times the allegation is made, "You're
bringing the council into disrepute because you are being critical," and that seems to
be inhibiting or preventing freedom of speech. So I'm interested, in those
circumstances, where it's - and I'll give you an example.

Say, for example, there was some transaction by council and you didn't follow the
procurement policy of council properly, and that there - subsequently, the
Auditor-General raised some issues about the probity of this particular transaction.
Now, for a councillor to raise this transaction and the criticisms identified by the
Auditor-General - so again, there's a factual basis and a legitimate basis for the
opinion being expressed - that shouldn't, I suggest to you, come within the
prohibition in 3.1(a) of bringing the council into disrepute.

MR MANNOUN: I guess what I - my response to that is I'm not a code of conduct
investigator.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: If a councillor feels it's a breach, if there's - there's interpretation,
as we've been - we have been interpreting now, that ultimately is the job of the code
of conduct reviewer, should it reach that threshold, and the different processes of
that. And then as councillors, we would then rely on a report to see, well, was it a
breach or was it not a breach. I guess we're not the judges of it as such. We'll -

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3594 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

COMMISSIONER: Do you see the tension, though, Councillor, that might arise,
where there - you or any other member of the governing body has a legitimate
concern about something that's happened in council, wants to raise it, voice

it - whether for transparency reasons or action reasons - but it might, because of the
breadth of the concept of "disrepute", to adopt your term, be painting the council in a
bad light or results in people perhaps losing some confidence in council on that

issue - do you see there might be a tension arising there?

MR MANNOUN: Indeed. There's a big tension. And if you look at - ultimately, we
are a body politic. We are - we're here through a - an election process, and the - in
Local Government it appears - or implied that - I think it's actually legislated - you
know, a decision of council, so - i.e. six/five - let's call it that - six is a decision of
council - that five are bound by that. And if five are critical of the six and they want
to express their right to oppose publicly, then they could potentially be in breach of
that.

So I - in general sense, I don't believe there is enough of a recognition that there is
two sides in a political environment, and especially when it gets down to an electoral
period that - you know, that schism, if I can use that word, becomes larger,

and - which is probably the right time for it, in the lead-up to an election. So

that's - there is definitely those tensions.

COMMISSIONER: Do you think there's benefit in trying to make clearer this
concept of disrepute in the forum of robust political, hopefully fact-based debate?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. We have a lack of resources available to us. We have a lack
of ability to go and question something. So for example, to have a discussion - you
know, where do we go to? We don't have that really - enough of a body. Not - it's not
a criticism of LGNSW or the OLG, but with the amount of councillors and the
amount of issues, where is there - the number that we could pick up and say, "Look, I
really need some help with this scenario. Can you help me? Can you give me the
details," and having that discussion.

Maybe this may be not an appropriate example, but we don't have these resources.
We don't have enough circulars or - at least that are easy to access that we can use to
rely upon. But with regards to, I guess, specifically your question, there is - simpler
would be useful as well, you know? I.e. the golden rule, do unto others as you want
done unto yourself. Would you like someone saying that about you? I mean, that's - |
like simplicity.

COMMISSIONER: How do you - in the bounds of robust political debate there will
be differences of views, usually?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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COMMISSIONER: And there might be differences of views as to, ultimately, the
decision made by the majority, as you've pointed out; correct?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Do you think it's still the role of the councillors who are
opposed to it, although they're obliged to uphold and not misrepresent the decision of
council, as you referred to - but that it's a function of - an appropriate function for
those councillors to still maintain their opposition to the decision that's ultimately
made? Is that appropriate, in your view?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And I think, as long as it's done - where it doesn't go below
the belt, that is - that's what's important - how you disagree. We are all going to
disagree, but it's how you disagree. And that would be good if that was, I guess,
clarified and people were given that opportunity. There's nothing wrong with
disagreement, in reality.

MS McDONALD: My note of one of your answers was, "I'm not a code of conduct
reviewer," but if it feels like a breach you would raise a code of conduct complaint.
Have I summarised part of your answer previously?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. I'm not the reviewer, so would not -

MS McDONALD: Sorry?

MR MANNOUN: So I'm not - sorry, not the reviewer, but - yes.

MS McDONALD: No, no, no. But you said -

MR MANNOUN: Yes, and if we - that - I guess that's a - that's the general views of
the - yes, of the - of the code. Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right.

MR MANNOUN: The measure, I guess, if I can say, is the standard you walk past is
the standard you accept. I'm not sure if that's helpful, but that's -

MS McDONALD: No, no, no, no, no. I'm just picking up when you said "it feels
like a breach". What I'm going to take you to are some recent statistics about the
code of conduct complaints within Liverpool council and the expense. The inquiry
has heard some evidence about this already, but with the "it feels like a breach", it's
on - the responsibility is on you, in raising or making the code of conduct complaint,
that there's a basis for it?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And when I say "a basis", it means that you - and this is - is that
you've got to come within one of the provisions of the code of conduct?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So for example, with 3.1 it would be, "Look, this particular
comment is bringing the council into disrepute."

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Or I think as - when you spoke about a comment "below the
belt", it might be, "Look, this particular comment causes or involves intimidation or
verbal abuse."

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But when you say - your answer of "it feels", your responsibility
in bringing the code of conduct complaint is really to identify the provision of the
code of conduct that you consider has been breached?

MR MANNOUN: What was that last part of that question?

MS McDONALD: You're now initiating or bringing a code of conduct complaint
against another councillor. In doing that, it's not just a matter of if feels to be a
breach. You should turn your mind to, "Why do I say it's a breach?" For example, it
brings the council into disrepute. Do you agree with that?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if, for example, it was a concern of bringing the council into
disrepute, you would then, in your thinking process, look at questions about - the
Commissioner just raised with you - is this really just part of the robust debate
between a councillor who has a different opinion or does it actually come within
3.1(a).

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And in going through that thinking process - and I think this is
consistent with your answers to the Commissioner - to have some more guidance on
what actually is meant by "bringing the council into disrepute" would be helpful?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Part of the reason why, I would suggest, you should go through

that thinking process is that to bring a code of conduct complaint potentially involves
cost to the council.
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MR MANNOUN: What's your definition of "cost"?

MS McDONALD: Looking - sending a complaint out to a preliminary assessment
with an outside investigative firm, then the firm preparing a report, coming back to
council.

MR MANNOUN: The financial cost?

MS McDONALD: Yes. I'm sorry, I should have said financial cost. Well, sorry, no.
There's financial cost, do you agree with that?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: But there's also costs in that - the evidence we've heard about the
procedure is that there are certain employees of council - and I think it might be Mr
Day primarily - who has to spend time away from his other duties in - I'll call it
reviewing, looking at code of conduct complaints, to make sure that they're not
vexatious, et cetera?

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I'd put that still under a - as a financial time cost.

MS McDONALD: And also, it would appear that with a lot of these the chief
executive officer is also spending his time from his busy day?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So - yes. But I - I agree there are other costs that aren't
captured in that.

MS McDONALD: All right. And when you say "other costs", are you talking about,
for example, if there is - sorry, the conduct involves - excuse me for a

minute - something that causes or involves intimidation or verbal abuse, there is the
cost on the person subject to alleged intimidation or verbal abuse?

MR MANNOUN: That is one, so that - you can say the victim. The other part, I
guess, which is, I guess, front of mind and - specifically you could say legislated to
me - could talk about, say, 226(b), which talks about social - promoting social
cohesion -

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - (a) being a leader. And I go back to that point about the
standard, you know, we walk past is the standard we accept. In - if [ have to calculate
every time, well, this bad behaviour is going to cost X dollars and use that as a
hindrance - and obviously we'd be - have to be financially responsible, so there's no
doubt about that, and I - I'm very enthusiastic in - about the budget. I care very - care
very deeply for it, but the cost of the community - of having leaders who are
conducting themselves in a fashion, which a councillor or a - community members
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believes is a potential breach of the code of conduct - I would argue would have a
much, much greater impact than the financial costs.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: Okay. And I can give you examples of that.

MS McDONALD: No, no. It's -

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I'm at the moment just identifying the various costs, because I
did want to bring up what appears to be the most recent statistics or figures dealing
with Liverpool City Council. Could we bring up, please, INQ.095.001.0003. It can
be live streamed. And while Ms Associate is doing that, can I indicate this is from
the Liverpool City Council website. It's the agenda for next week's council meeting.
And I did have a word with my learned friends. It's a public document, so in the
context of it is a report going to council, and obviously council have not considered it
yet.

MR MANNOUN: Thank you.

MR MANNOUN: I'm glad you've read it. [ haven't read it yet.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry?

MR MANNOUN: I haven't read it yet, so -

COMMISSIONER: We'll read it together, Councillor.

MS McDONALD: And -

MR MANNOUN: I do note there's a very good paper in there about the budget - a
quarterly review.

MS McDONALD: And if you go through to page 234, please. If we can expand that
a wee bit? Can you see it's a report, Annual Code of Conduct Complaints Statistics,
Office of Local Government Report. So it will be looking at the statistics up until 30
June this year, but if we can just move through the document -

COMMISSIONER: 30 June or 30 August?

MS McDONALD: Sorry. I'm just reading - yes, executive summary, statistics up
until 31 August this year.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Yes.

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3599 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MS McDONALD: And if we just keep on moving down the document. I think that's
all a little bit background material that we know about the obligations. If we keep on
going - we there have the statistics that are being provided for this report that's got to
go into OLG. Are you okay with that?

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, is this what we sent to the OLG? Is that what your
question was?

MS McDONALD: My understanding from this agenda is this is the report that's
been prepared to send in to OLG, and it's now been - the recommendation is that
council receives the stat report and notes that the stat report will be submitted to the
Office of Local Government by the complaints coordinator following consideration
of the report.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right.

COMMISSIONER: So the yellow document on the screen is the report that's been
prepared to be on-forwarded -

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: - to the OLG after it's been considered next Tuesday or
whatever the date is - at the next meeting.

MS McDONALD: So Wednesday, whenever -

MR MANNOUN: Wednesday.

COMMISSIONER: The next meeting.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And, sorry, we've gone back to the report.
COMMISSIONER: We haven't. You - we're still on the -

MS McDONALD: No, it's up there, isn't it?

COMMISSIONER: The - sorry, I thought you meant the report to council.

MS McDONALD: No, no, no. I'm looking at the stats that will be provided -
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COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: - to OLG. And you can see there that, in particular, under 1, the
total number of complaints - they break it down into 20 from the community, 101
from other councillors, 10 from the general manager and then about 17 from other
council staff. You can see that?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then it's got - thanks - 148. And then we've got total number
of complaints finalised about councillors and the GM under the code of conduct. And
can you see there in - in the following periods you've got three months 26 were
finalised, but then after that it's either zero or one being finalised within 12 months.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You can see that? And again, with the statistics that have been
provided to the council previously, I would suggest that the 26 that have been dealt
with within the three months are the complaints where at the beginning there's a
review and it's either - there's a vetting process that the CEO and Mr Day go through,
and it's a matter of this really isn't a code of conduct complaint or it can be dealt with
by alternative means. Do you agree with that suggestion?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. The only exception is that I potentially play a role in that.
MS McDONALD: As well?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What's your role in that?

MR MANNOUN: If a complaint is received about the general manager it goes to the
mayor.

MS McDONALD: Of course. I'm sorry. Yes. But there have been some

against - about the general manager where you have determined that they won't
progress?

MR MANNOUN: No.

MS McDONALD: They've all progressed to a preliminary assessment, have they?
MR MANNOUN: I don't recall receiving any. There is - I recall receiving one, yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Because that -
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MR MANNOUN: It's - sorry, it's actually - I've been trying to seek clarification if it
actually is lodged as a code of conduct, and I haven't had a clear answer about it, so -

MS McDONALD: It's just it records there 10 complaints about the general manager,
so I thought that would suggest you'd have a bigger role.

MR MANNOUN: Never have - no, I don't believe I have received them.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And if we move through the -

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, Ms McDonald, are you looking at 1?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: 1(iii).

COMMISSIONER: Is that about or from?

MS McDONALD: No, I'm sorry. You're correct.

COMMISSIONER: It's from the general manager.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Forget that last line of questioning, Mr Mannoun.

MR MANNOUN: Okay.

COMMISSIONER: That would accord with the witness's answer.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we keep moving down the document, you can see in - this
is the overview. We've got finalised at the outset by alternative means two, none
going to the Office of Local Government, 127 being referred to a conduct reviewer.
And my understanding of that is the conduct reviewer is one of those outside
agencies.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Sorry, it's just been pointed out I jumped ahead. OLG was
under a special complaints management arrangement, so nothing there. 127 going to
a conduct reviewer, 11 being finalised at preliminary assessment. And then in (f), the
number of finalised code of conduct complaints investigated by a conduct reviewer

was nil. And then the cost of code of conduct complaints via a preliminary
assessment is over $102,000.
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Then we've got progressed to full investigation by a conduct reviewer - we've got
101 being progressed, but the number of finalised complaints investigated, where
there was found to be no breach, zero. Finalised where there was found to be a
breach, zero. And then, sorry, right at the bottom you've got the number of
complaints referred by the GM or the mayor - you've got three going to OLG.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, what I want to ask you about those statistics - and this

is - before the inquiry we have a spreadsheet, which has been prepared internally by
council employees, setting out - I think, off the top of my head, the complaints start
last year, maybe in about November or December. The fact that so many go out to an
outside organisation and - for example, the full investigations, it would appear that
there's been no finalisation of the investigations. And what I want to ask you about is
the delay, because you seem to have complaints that were made in about December
or January, and we're coming up to about 12 months later and they still haven't been
finalised. I think - right, the first one is in about October and it still hasn't been
resolved. Have you asked any questions or looked at the delay in the complaints not
being finalised?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And what inquiries or questions have you asked?
MR MANNOUN: When will - the code of conducts that I have lodged -
MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - when will they be concluded.

MS McDONALD: And I think, from memory, from the spreadsheet, you made
some in January of this year.

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I think I did.

MS McDONALD: And who did you ask about, "What's happened with the code of
conduct complaints that ['ve lodged"?

MR MANNOUN: The CEO and the director of Corporate Services.

MS McDONALD: Of what, sorry?

MR MANNOUN: Corporate Services. Mr Portelli.

MS McDONALD: Mr Portelli. And have they provided an explanation to you?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: I'm just focusing on the delay.
MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And what explanation have they provided to you?

MR MANNOUN: I wonder if this is an explanation, but they said that the
benchmark is apparently 12 months - or the average - is what is [ was told.

MS McDONALD: Where does the - do you know where the benchmark comes
from?

MR MANNOUN: I think OLG told me.

MS McDONALD: All right. But in your view, is - if we - on the spreadsheet you've
got complaints being lodged in October and still not been dealt with. Benchmark or
no benchmark, that's not - would you agree that is not an acceptable time period for
the complaint not to be finalised?

MR PARISH: I object. That has within it a rolled up and vague nature to it, given
the challenges that may come with individual complaints in the process. And to make
it - to put it (indistinct) in such a general way both does not elicit a useful answer for
the Commissioner, and also is unfair, insofar as it may (indistinct) things on the way
the process is being handled by council staff (indistinct) not been drawn.

COMMISSIONER: I didn't understand the question to raise that last issue, but if
there is a risk about that perhaps it can be rephrase to make clearer - Ms McDonald,
as I understand it, what you're really exploring with the councillor is the general
concept of time taken to resolve them, his view about the time taken generally and
whether - assuming we're going down a path of whether things might be able to be
enhanced in some way.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Is that the general -

MS McDONALD: Yes. Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Mr Parish, if we deal with it in that general term, does that still
give rise to that last consideration that you raised? I suppose you don't know until
you hear the question, but just -

MR PARISH: My answer was going to be that it probably is a matter of

submissions, insofar - if in due course senior counsel assisting wanted to make a
criticism of council, which is my sensitivity, then I would deal with it then.
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COMMISSIONER: I don't understand it as being a criticism of council as opposed
to how the process might be enhanced, going forward.

MR PARISH: Please the court.
COMMISSIONER: But if I've misunderstood -
MS McDONALD: No.

COMMISSIONER: - I make that clear. And of course, the councillor has got two
hats on. One as a complainant and another as the mayor.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: So I'd be interested in hearing his perspective on both. But if
we encroach on the area of your concern, Mr Parish, feel free to let me know.

MR PARISH: Thank you, Commissioner.

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, what I'm dealing with is what - with the delay.
And as just has been outlined, you do wear two hats. The first hat of a complainant,
whose complaints - for example, the ones in January still haven't been finalised - are
you concerned about the delay?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Why are you concerned? And this is from your perspective as
the complainant. Why are you concerned?

MR MANNOUN: So I find this links to a little bit of our earlier conversation, in
that -

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry?

MR MANNOUN: I find that this links to a little bit of our earlier conversation, in
that (1) it's an operational matter. Number 2, that if I answer the question I could
potentially bring council into disrepute - potentially. So it's a - but I will give a - an
observation -

MS McDONALD: I think you're allowed to in an inquiry.

MR MANNOUN: So the -

COMMISSIONER: Well, I think I can compel an answer to that question.

MS McDONALD: Yes.
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COMMISSIONER: So to the extent you need compulsion, please answer the
question.

MR MANNOUN: So I - if I can answer it like this - and this maybe could fall under
the banner of advanced training. We have a media policy. In that policy, it says that a
breach of this policy is a breach of the code of conduct. So who determines if it's a
breach of the policy? Because it says there if you've done (1), (2), (3), then have you
breached the policy. So then, if it's that black and white there, then when it moves
over into the code of conduct, why is there - there a need to be such an investigation,
especially when it's black and white, already been determined that there has been a
breach of the media policy? And therefore why would there then be, I guess, a
12-month gap? That's one thing I'm challenged with.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: I get if it's a different scenario, where there was a - there was a
briefing session - and you read about these from time to time in newspapers or
whatever - councillors were in a room together, Councillor X said this, Councillor Y
said that, then an investigation - where you need to get witness statements and go
through a process - that does take a little bit of time, "he said, she said". But when it's
a black and white - as I said, already been established. So I don't believe that it - in
my opinion, it needs that long of a process.

MS McDONALD: Yes.
MR MANNOUN: And that's not a criticism of the staff, because, as I said -
MS McDONALD: No, no, no.

MR MANNOUN: - it was already established - I did raise these issues in a briefing
session with council when we were dealing with the recently revised media policy,
when I asked the same questions and I didn't really get a - an answer that was
helpful, so to speak, because - maybe with a roomful of lawyers, maybe - it would be
great if we can get some advice on that, or guidance.

The - and then I guess the bigger issue that I guess I have with regards to my hat as
the mayor is that the community - once again, one expects councillors to conduct
themselves in a certain fashion. What's different between my 2012 term, my first
term as mayor and councillor, can I say, to - versus today is that you no longer have
the local newspaper - where the local newspaper was a - your main source of
information and news about the community.

I remember we used to go and pick up letters to the editor and read that page and say,
"I can't wait to respond back to that and send it in," and one week later hopefully get
your response. That was the pace, and that's where people went as a source of
knowledge. Now they're jumping on social - jumping online, and they're seeing that
bad behaviour and they just want to know why is it continuing, why hasn't it stopped.
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And in - the delay just allows it to continue, where - [ believe that, look, there are
people who make honest mistakes. That's life, you know? Every batsman nicks a
ball, that's kind of what happens - they do that. But if they're told what they did is a
mistake early on -

MS McDONALD: It has a deterrent effect.

MR MANNOUN: Correct.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: And it could once - it could be an honest mistake, "Yes, sorry, I
didn't know I (indistinct) do that. Sorry, that was" - "I'm just settling in," so to speak.
But - and if there - if it was clear - [ would say if this was - in, I guess, support of my
concern is that if something was raised in October or January or whenever it was, if
it was dealt with in March, April, an appropriate level of service, then I don't think
we would be seeing these numbers in front of us, which would be - which, more
importantly, helps social cohesion in the community.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Is that an appropriate time?

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Councillor, we'll break for lunch now for an hour. We'll
resume at 2.15. So if you wouldn't mind being back here just a couple of minutes
before then, I'd be most grateful.

MR MANNOUN: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER: I'll adjourn until 2.15.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 1.14 PM

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 2.20 PM

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. Could we bring up again, please,
INQ.095.001.0003. And we were around page, I think, 238.

MR MANNOUN: While you're getting settled in, I found the name of that course.
Executive Certificate - sorry, Executive Certificate for Leader - Executive Certificate
for Elected Leaders in Local Government.

COMMISSIONER: Do you know who provided it?

MR MANNOUN: LGNSW. And it is - you get a certificate from UTS.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.
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MS McDONALD: I'll just finish up some of - referring to some of the matters in
this report. I think I referred to the cost that was set out for the preliminary
assessment, which was the 102,000-odd. Yes. And then if we go to the next page,
you can see the total cost of dealing with code of conduct complaints, including staff
costs, is over 311,000?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: The reporting of the statistics dealings with code of conduct
complaints which has occurred during a number of council meetings - I think it's
roughly - they're reported about every three months, something like that. There's
usually a distinction between preliminary assessments and then the investigation. Do
you understand, again broadly, the difference between a preliminary assessment and
then an investigation?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: One of the matters that you discussed immediately before the
lunch break - if I can describe it as the black and white example. And my
understanding was what you were referring to, for example, would be a post, say, by
a councillor on social media.

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: You look at the media policy, and it is in breach of the media
policy - make that assumption.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: My understanding of your point about the black and white - in
those circumstances, is there a need for a preliminary assessment or a

preliminary - sorry, I should phrase it a preliminary assessment that goes to an
outside organisation - that the preliminary assessment arguably could be conducted
in-house at the council, because prima facie you've got the media post, prima facie it
would be - appear to be a breach of the media policy, and hence it should progress to
the next stage of an investigation. Now, is that, fleshing out that example, what you
were referring to?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And more so in - when there is a breach of policy -
MS McDONALD: Like the media policy?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3608 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR MANNOUN: Then somebody's making a determination. And if you have made
that determination, then why would you even - you talk about the preliminary
investigation, why would there even - what is the need for an investigation?

MS McDONALD: Okay. That's a different point than what I was putting to you. If
there is a purported breach of, for example, the media policy and it hasn't become a
code of conduct complaint, what's the procedure within council? Who looks at and
determinations whether this is a breach of the media policy?

MR MANNOUN: I would have look at the policy. I don't remember off the top of
my head. It's a newly adopted policy. But ultimately, the responsibility - for the
media manager or - if it's council's Facebook - if you have the policy, I could - off
the top of my head I couldn't answer that clearly.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Look, we might look at that further. What I was
suggesting was - picking up your black and white example, is - assume these facts.
There's a social media post. You look at it, and on its face it is racist or sexist or
would cause intimidation or abuse of a person. If you have the evidence of the post
and then an assessment, which I would suggest could be quite easily done, why can't
that be done very quickly in-house, then would move to an investigation, which may
involve talking to the person who posted - who made the post, to confirm that, "Yes,
I did make that post in these circumstances," et cetera? But it would cut back, where
it's a black and white case, to pick up your wording, that preliminary assessment
stage and cut back on time, delay and cost.

MR MANNOUN: So the response that I've had regarding that is that once

it's - moves into the world of "you're breaching this policy, it's a breach of the code
of conduct," that - it hits the - if [ can call it the conveyor belt of the code of conduct,
and that process, which is very clearly drawn out, must be conducted. And I think if
you look at the - where we are in today's age, and the Act probably being a little

bit - or was - when the Act was created there wasn't social media.

MS McDONALD: The Local Government Act?

MR MANNOUN: The Local Government Act. Yes. Sorry. And, you know, if there
was an opportunity for improvement, then it should be something along the lines that
in - [ don't know if this is in front of us now, I think - I don't think the bills have gone
to Parliament yet, even though they were announced by the minister in September.
COMMISSIONER: There's a bill before Parliament.

MR MANNOUN: Pardon?

COMMISSIONER: There is a bill before Parliament.

MR MANNOUN: It is before -
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COMMISSIONER: And it is still before Parliament.

MS McDONALD: And that's looking at amendments to the code of conduct
procedure?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. If there was something in - that clearly dealt with social
media behaviour, timelines - timeline - timelines would serve - help Local
Government in many, many areas, but ultimately, I think that it needs to be picking
up on that.

MS McDONALD: All right. So - and I'm just putting this broadly at the
moment - what you're suggesting is the Act - maybe the code of conduct
itself - should expressly refer to and deal with social media?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: And perhaps some refinement of the code of conduct
procedures that might be applied to your black and white breach of policy type
example - that would prevent them from, to pick up another word you used, getting
on the conveyor belt, as it were?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
COMMISSIONER: [s that what you had in mind just before lunch?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And I - with - I think what has happened in our

situation - like, we have data in front of us, which is great. The key is, I guess,
understanding that data, but one of the elements in here is the sheer quantity, and I
think the sheer quantity has then led to procurement issues. Well, it - and then
procurement took its time, versus (1) what would say if you looked at the last - and
let's say from 2008 Liverpool Council, the average of - call it - I think it says in the
report four to five, you know, code of conducts. So in that situation there isn't a
procurement issue -

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - which has probably added, dare I say, probably two to three
months to this process.

MS McDONALD: The difficulty is - without drilling down into code of conduct
complaints, but can I put this to you - going through the spreadsheet that we've been
prepared - that we've been provided by council, it does appear that a number of the
complaints are, "this social media post", and my view of the black and white solution
would be you look at the media post and you just think, "Yes, that's sexist,
potentially a breach of the code of conduct," and you tick the preliminary assessment
stage, move into investigation. You might have to procure the outside organisation,
et cetera, but you're cutting back on time and expense of that preliminary assessment
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stage, which I - my impression from your answers is that you wouldn't be hostile to
an approach to along those lines?

MR MANNOUN: No, I think that would be very positive. And if we are going to
discuss an ombudsman at some point in time -

MS McDONALD: Yes.
MR MANNOUN: - I will add onto that some of my views, if I can.

MS McDONALD: That's on the list, Mr Mannoun. All right. Excuse me for a
minute. I'll just bring up the media policy. It's INQ.002.001.0015. This can all be live
streamed. See Media Policy 2025?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: If we go through to page 3, under 3.4, enforcement, there's a
reference to:

"The code of conduct provides that council officials must not conduct themselves in
a manner contrary to a council's policies. A breach of this policy will be a breach of a
council's code of conduct."

And then:

"Concerns or complaints about the administration of a council's engagement with the
media should be made to the council official responsible for the media
management..."

Don't think that might be this point. But then if we move to page 9, in 3.19 we've got:

"Concerns or complaints about activity considered to be a breach of this policy
should be made to the CEO in the first instance."

The policy seems to be silent on, if somebody does have a concern about the post
and they raise that concern with the CEO, what happens next. And that might be a
matter of the interrelationship between the media policy and the code of conduct and
who determines whether it is a breach of the media policy actually hasn't been
explored.

COMMISSIONER: This is not a criticism of anybody, but there might be a
difficulty with this example in applying it to councillors' own Facebook or Instagram
pages as opposed to council-branded media.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Yes.
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COMMISSIONER: There might just be a disconnect, but I think I understand the
import of the councillor's evidence. If we remove it from the media policy, in
particular, to policies in general, I think the observations still hold.

MS McDONALD: Moving along, Mr Mannoun. The Office of Local Government
in June of this year have - has issued a guideline, free speech in Local Government in
New South Wales. You know of that?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.
MS McDONALD: Have you read it?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. [ remember having it emailed to me - well, when it was
emailed - and having read it fairly quickly, but I have read it, yes.

MS McDONALD: There's a couple of aspects of it that [ wanted to raise with you.
If we can bring it up, please. I think it's LCC.012.001.0086. Yes, please. That's the
first page of the free speech guideline. If you've been following evidence, I've taken
a number of witnesses to relevant parts of it. I wanted to take you to a specific part,
which is on page 9 of the document. And it's towards the bottom of the page, under
the heading How Should Councils Apply Their Code of Conduct to Public Comment
By Councillors.

And I'm just going to paraphrase it while we go along, but you can see the first part
talks about the model code of conduct was deliberately designed to align with the
implied freedom of political communication. It should not be applied by councils in a
way that impedes councillors' ability to engage with the community or participate in
robust public debate on issues impacting the council and the community. The next
section says:

"Councillors should refrain from engaging in personal attacks."
And it lists the people there. Then if we can go across the page, it then says:

"However, it's entirely acceptable and appropriate for councillors to disagree with
their council, other council officials and members of the community when making
public comment."

Then I'll just jump down towards the bottom of that first column. It talks about the
healthy democratic system of Local Government requiring robust public debate on
local issues, and then it sets out the benefits of such robust public debate. And then if
we go across to the next column, the paragraph starting:

"It's inevitable that councils, councillors, council staff and members of the
community will disagree, dispute or may be offended by comments made by
councillors when engaging with the community, unless the comment involves a clear
breach of the provisions of the code of conduct referred to above, because it's
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personally disparaging, abusive or intimidating. The code of conduct is not the
appropriate mechanism for addressing that comment."

What I'm - my first - I've got a series of questions from this. My first question is,
now that this has been articulated in the guideline, when you have turned your mind
in the past to some social media posts and you formed the view that it was a breach
of the code of conduct or it should be reported as a breach of the code of

conduct - this explanation here, will that change the way that you approach your
assessment of a social media post as to whether it is a breach of the code of conduct?

MR MANNOUN: No, because I believe in the code of conducts that I have lodged I
am taking this into consideration, even prior to it actually being public.

MS McDONALD: All right. So your view is your code of conduct complaints that
you've made - arising, for example, from a social media post, has been consistent
with this guideline?

MR MANNOUN: I would say generally yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. We'll return to that - sorry, did you need to look at
something?

MR MANNOUN: I'm just looking at this. What is the - sorry, what is the exact title
of this document again? It's a guideline?

MS McDONALD: Yes. It's a guideline under -

COMMISSIONER: 23A.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Of the Act.

MR MANNOUN: So it's - I just wonder, does this conflict with our social media
policy? And then it says, "when there is a clear breach of the code of conduct" - does
that then conflict with the code of conduct? Because how do you determine there's a
clear breach without an investigation and the process happening? Even though a
person would look at it and say, "Yes, black and white, that is a breach. We know
what's appropriate, what's not" - but we're not allowed to make that judgment and
finalise it.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, I'm a little bit confused by your answer.

MR MANNOUN: So if we go to -

MS McDONALD: Is it one of the pages I just took you to?

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3613 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR MANNOUN: No, no. Yes, yes. It's in front of me. Where it says - I think the
second paragraph on the right-hand side:

"...unless the comment involves a clear breach of the positions of the code of conduct
referred to above."

MS McDONALD: And then in brackets it refers to personally disparaging, abusive
or intimidating.

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So once again, if Councillor X says to Councillor Y, "You
are A, B, C, D, E," it's pretty clear. Well, it's clear. But for someone to refer that - or,
like, the process of referral, you - once again, you can't publicly say, "Well, that was
a breach of the code of conduct." It has to go through a process. And this is, I think,
the struggle everybody is having at the moment. Who determines - at what point can
we actually determine it is a breach of the code of conduct, even though - when it is
crystal clear, black and white?

MS McDONALD: I think I'm more - I accept what you're putting to me, that there
will probably be some posts which are very clear - is a very clear breach of the
provisions of the code of conduct, because, for example, it's abusive.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What [ want to explore with you is that this guideline now seems
to have created more a grey area - that in the past people have looked at a particular
post and thought, "Yes, breach of code of conduct." Where now, if it's not a clear
breach, this guideline would suggest that it goes into the robust debate and, in a
sense, the way you deal with it is not a code of conduct complaint but engaging with
the issue. It might make more sense if I -

MR MANNOUN: No, no. It makes sense.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: It makes sense. So has it muddied the waters? [ would say yes.
And once it - there is ambiguity regarding to the determination of a breach of the
code of conduct, because whilst we have had - and what you - the report that's
coming to council on Wednesday, the 100-plus -

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR MANNOUN: - referrals and then 20 - or whatever the number was - was ruled
out from the initial assessment -

MS McDONALD: Yes.
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MR MANNOUN: - the other ones have not been determined. So I - if I was asked
today, "Has anybody breached the code of conduct at Liverpool Council" - if the
media asked me that, for example, [ would have to respond by saying, "No, nobody
has breached the code of conduct yet," so - even though, once again, it's black and
white, we know there has been.

MS McDONALD: I think that we might be a little bit at cross-purposes. Obviously,
if you consider there's been a breach of the code of conduct there is the procedure
that you follow. And so again, in 10 words or less, you would report it to the CEO,
the CEOQ either, in a sense, vets it himself or might involve Mr Day vetting it. If it
passes that initial hurdle it goes to a preliminary assessment, and then after the
preliminary assessment, assuming there's a tick for the preliminary assessment, it
goes to an investigation.

And I accept your point - ultimately, at the end of the investigation there will be a
determination about whether the conduct - I think it - it appears to be a breach of the
code of conduct. But I think what this policy is looking at is to try and stop things
progressing at the beginning. That is, a post is made. You might sit back and disagree
with it, it might be in robust terms and there might be a word used, for example, that
you don't agree with or you think might be personally disparaging, but is it a matter
of you sit back and you think, "Well, it's part of a robust debate. I'll just respond on
my social media page," or do you engage with a code of conduct procedure?

MR MANNOUN: So just speaking from my experience - so I guess I - I believe |
am distinguishing between what is debate in a democracy and free speech - you
know, what is appropriate versus the disparaging or unworthy comments that [
believe I have reported as a code of conduct.

MS McDONALD: All right.

MR MANNOUN: And if I had a look at my code of conducts I could probably talk
to that.

MS McDONALD: We're shortly going to explore one or two, but I've got to
move - we've got to move into a closed session, and that's why I'm just trying to
finish some of the topics in open session.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I might ask you about this guideline. Could we bring up, please,
INQ.095.001.0003 again. And it can be live streamed. And this is the agenda for next
week's meeting. And can we move through to page 30. This is part of the minutes
from the October council meeting, okay?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And again, I understand they are the minutes and they haven't
gone to council to be approved at the moment, but on that basis I'm just showing you

a report there. And can you see it's got "code of conduct complaints"? Do you see
that?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then you've got the motion that Councillors Macnaught and
Ammoun - ultimately which was accepted by the council:

"Receive and note the report."
See that?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What I'm interested in is towards the bottom of that page of the
foreshadowed motion. Do you recall this? This was put forward by Councillors
Ristevski and Monaghan. Do you remember this?

MR MANNOUN: I'm just reading it. Could we just scroll down to the other parts of
the motion? No, that's it. Sorry. Okay. Could you just scroll back up, please? I would
need to see the report to remind me, if you want to go into specifics - into (indistinct)

3.
MS McDONALD: All right. I can get my trusty junior to find that.
COMMISSIONER: What's the issue that you want to explore?

MS McDONALD: What I want to ask is about the foreshadowed motion which
wasn't pursued because the motion was passed, and just some content of the
foreshadowed motion.

MR MANNOUN: Mmm.

MS McDONALD: Can I ask you some questions about it. And if you say to me,
"Look, I really need to see the report," that's fine. But when you see my questions
you might not need to see that report, okay?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. That's fine. Yes.

MS McDONALD: What I'm interested in is really the first part of the foreshadowed
motion. The first one is just the formal acknowledgment of the release of the free
speech guidelines. Then the - request the CEO to organise compulsory training for all
councillors and relevant senior staff on the guidelines, and then with an emphasis of
three dot points. I'll stop there at the moment. The first thing I want to ask you
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about - you said that you've got the guidelines attached to an email. Do you know
whether they had been distributed to all councillors?

MR MANNOUN: No, I don't, and it's partly because I don't know if the email was
sent to me in my role as the mayor from the council staff versus my role as a member

of the Board of LGNSW.

MS McDONALD: Right. Okay. The date of the guidelines is June. It really should
have been distributed to everybody by now?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: The question of compulsory training - again, is that something
that you - in your view would be appropriate? Maybe not in terms of compulsory
training, but some kind of briefing session on the new guideline and how it interacts
with the code of conduct and - with the code of conduct?

MR MANNOUN: We can't have briefing sessions anymore, so no.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry?

MR MANNOUN: We can't have briefings session anymore, so no.

MS McDONALD: You can if -

COMMISSIONER: You can.

MS McDONALD: - members of the public -

COMMISSIONER: Yes. If they're public -

MS McDONALD: Isn't that the case?

COMMISSIONER: - you can, can't you?

MR MANNOUN: So -

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, Commissioner, I spoke over to you.
COMMISSIONER: No, that's all right. I thought the changes - and someone will
correct me if I'm wrong - the relevant changes provided that briefing sessions could

be held as long as they were open to the public.

MR MANNOUN: I think in the form of a committee is how we understood it, but I
think that report's coming to us on Wednesday.
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COMMISSIONER: Okay. All right. Let's style it as training rather than briefing, to
avoid that uncertainty. Do you think that councillors would benefit from training on
the content of the guideline and how it intersects with the code of conduct and the
code of conduct procedures?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And I guess I'll refer to my previous evidence that as an
ongoing CSP - a -

COMMISSIONER: CPD.

MR MANNOUN: CPD. Thank you, Commissioner. The - yes, and that is a great
example of a change that's been made and how does it then get - and this is - a lot of
organisations have this challenge - government and public - of how do you
disseminate change of policy throughout an organisation.

MS McDONALD: Other than training, is it - are there other avenues whereby this
new guideline, which the council has to take into account in their conduct and
dealings, can be raised with councillors?

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, what was the question?

MS McDONALD: Well, I put to you training, and you've agreed that training, when
there's a new guideline, is a good idea. I also suggested a briefing, but you've put up
the change to briefings under the Code of Meeting Practice now - or maybe the Act.
Is there any other avenue open at council for, where there is a new guideline, getting
the councillors together and say, "Look, this has been passed. This is what it says.
This is possible repercussions."

MR MANNOUN: Governance committee is an example.
MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: That can be brought up and discussed there, and that ticks the box
regarding - yes, every councillor is there. We have our weekly circular that goes
around, where it's - put into that. There is a - if I can make a general observation,
there is an abundance of correspondence that gets sent to councillors, not just your
typical junk - your junk mail from all different organisations. There's a lot of stuff
that comes through council staff, and then there's obviously the constituent inquiries.
And it's been raised to me by numerous councillors - been spoken about by
numerous councillors - is that emails do tend to get lost. And so if you were to
circulate it, it is possible that a councillor does miss out on it because of just the
abundance.

MS McDONALD: All right. So just looking at the content of this foreshadowed
motion, do you agree that training in the new guideline would be appropriate?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Now, what this particular foreshadowed motion then goes on to
discuss, for example, in 3 - sorry, in 2, the training would have an emphasis on
councillors' right to lawful political communication, distinction between misconduct
and legitimate political debate, and proper and improper use of code of conduct
process.

Now, my reading of that proposal is it's raising, since the guideline has been issued,
code of conduct and what is, kind of, free speech - the robust debate needs to be
examined further - that what was perceived to be the case before the guidelines now
may have changed. So do you agree, number 1, that that is potentially an issue, the
interaction now that you've got the guidelines and code of conduct?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: That training - raising those matters would be helpful?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then the third dot point is:

"Request the CEO to prepare a report to council within 60 days, outlining
recommendations to prevent the misuse of the code of conduct framework."

I suppose that's based on the assumption that there has been misuse of the code of
conduct framework, but if [ could just rephrase it, maybe request the CEO to prepare
a report about the interrelationship between the free speech guidelines and the code
of conduct process and how matters may change since the guideline's been
introduced?

MR MANNOUN: I would say that something like that would probably best come
from the OLG, who released the circular. Because it's - I guess, once again, when
you're implementing change - and if I can refer to - the document has changed, in the
broad sense, then there really should be an implementations strategy attached to it,
because - if you can just imagine now we're one out of 100-plus New South Wales
councils, and is every - why would we burden every CEO to go out there and do this
when it could just simply be done from centralised OLG, "Here's how we would like
to you roll this out," you know? A training session, how it deals with the point that
you just raised as well. It would be much more efficient and quicker if it happened
that way, and especially - they own the document, so they really - they really
understand it. When I say "understand it" - but, you know, sometimes when you're
writing a document you're probably more connected to it.

MS McDONALD: There's like - is it Local Government New South Wales?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Is that kind of the equivalent of an employer industrial body for
local council?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Is that something they've looked at, on behalf of their members,
what is meant by or the repercussions of this new policy?

MR MANNOUN: I'm just trying to think. When - if we have discussed - my
recollection is yes, we did.

MS McDONALD: You discussed it?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But what about providing any guidance, assistance to the various
council members of the organisation about, well, what does this mean, what
repercussions does it have?

MR MANNOUN: I have a lot of faith in our CEO of LGNSW, and I'm sure that - I
would be very confident that he has done something, but I cannot point my finger to
it.

MS McDONALD: Can you just excuse me for a minute. Excuse me. We did find
the report referred to at the beginning of the motion, but I take it you don't need to
see it. Okay. What I wanted to do now, Commissioner, is take Mr Mannoun to about
one or two code of conduct complaints that he's made and how - his opinion on how
it interacts with this new guideline.

COMMISSIONER: All right.

MS McDONALD: But I think, as per our practice -

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - we need to go into a closed session.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Pursuant to section 12B of the Royal Commissions
Act, I direct that the next passage of hearing take place in private and that the
transcript of this passage of hearing not be published otherwise than in accordance
with my usual direction as amended. I take it everybody who is in the room can
remain? They're all representatives? Yes. All silent, all good.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: All right. We'll just wait for the operator to tell me that we're in
private session. Thank you.
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MS McDONALD: The first one I -
COMMISSIONER: Just pause. Just pause.
MS McDONALD: I'm sorry.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 3.02 PM
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 3.50 PM

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Yes, Ms McDonald.

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, I just want to, just in the time we've got left, deal
with an aspect of chief executive officers. There have been a number of chief
executive officers at Liverpool City Council over a particular period. Can I just
confirm with you what - our understanding of who it was and at what time, just so
that it accords with your understanding. The first one I have is Farooq Portelli.
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And I've got the period September 2010 to July 2014.

MR MANNOUN: Sounds about right.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And, again, I will come back to that in a little bit more
detail probably on Monday, but my understanding with Mr Portelli is that in
December - sorry. Yes, in December 2013 there was a proposed termination of his
contract at the council meeting, and that there wasn't a quorum?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then ultimately next year, in March, Mr Portelli resigned?
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that's - accords with your recollection?

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Without being specific on months and dates -

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR MANNOUN: - but generally speaking, yes.

MS McDONALD: Then after Mr Portelli it was a Carl Wulft - Wulff?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: The dates are again - and | know I'm putting these dates at you,
but ['ve got from about July 2014 to July 2016.

MR MANNOUN: Sounds about right.

MS McDONALD: And when he no longer - was no longer the CEO, were you still
the mayor at that stage?
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Can you recall, again just broadly, the circumstances in which he
was no longer CEQ?

MR MANNOUN: What do you mean by "broadly"?

MS McDONALD: Did he resign? Was there a resolution of council that either
exercised the right of termination on 38 weeks' pay or some other basis?

MR MANNOUN: I do not remember the provision of the contract that was used, but
ultimately his contract was terminated by a decision -

MS McDONALD: Of the council?
MR MANNOUN: - of the council.

MS McDONALD: And I'm not being critical of you, but sitting here today, you
can't recall whether it was the termination without - without cause or with cause or
what the basis actually was?

MR MANNOUN: No, I can remember - I can remember the circumstances, and the
events and discussions around that. But the specific - what section of the contract
exactly, I couldn't tell you.

MS McDONALD: Okay. If we - all right. I withdraw that. After that I've got a
Michael Cullen acting.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But is this - we're now in 2016. Is this around the time of the
election where you didn't stand for council again?

MR MANNOUN: Correct.

MS McDONALD: So if I start rattling off some other names, you weren't there and
you probably can't assist us with what happened?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. The next one I've got is Dr Eddie Jackson, and I've got
November - from July 2020 to November 2020 he was acting and then November
2020 to February 2022 he was permanent.

MR MANNOUN: But - as in - sorry, you've skipped Kiersten Fishburn, because I
wasn't there.

LCC Inquiry —21.11.2025 P-3623 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MS McDONALD: I skipped her because you weren't there at the time.
MR MANNOUN: I understand. Sorry.

MS McDONALD: No, I think to be fair, because you weren't a member of the
council I probably shouldn't ask you about that. But with Dr Jackson, when his
contract ended - or was terminated in about February 2022, that was when you had
been re-elected mayor?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And ultimately, his termination, if I can put it roughly, was a
termination without cause, in that it brings into operation the provision of the
contract which at a minimum says 38 weeks?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But I think we've heard some evidence that he then negotiated
and got an additional or higher payment?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I've then got Peter Diplas, who was acting CEO from February
2022 to November 2022.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And then I've got Tina Bono from November 2022, acting.
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Just jumping back to Mr Diplas, can you recall, did he leave the
organisation or just relinquish being acting CEO, or what happened with him?

MR MANNOUN: He never applied for the role of CEO when it was put up there
permanently, and towards the end of his period that he went on leave, and then in
that leave period Tina Bono acted for a short period of time whilst he was on leave
until Mr Ajaka was appointed.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And then we've got Mr Ajaka appointed December 2022,
and I've got April 2024. I think, strictly, that should be May, should it? That was
when you had the council meeting -

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - which determined to terminate his employment?
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then Mr Breton was acting from, actually, April 2024 because
Mr Ajaka went on the leave after the resolution in the April meeting?

MR MANNOUN: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And then Mr Breton was acting April - April 2024 to April 2025.
MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then from April 2025 he was appointed to the permanent
position.

MR MANNOUN: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Right. Commissioner, I was going to now turn to some specific
CEOs, and just - what I intend to do in respect of those CEOs - look at process and
procedure, where - that was adopted whereby their employment was either
terminated, et cetera. Given it's Friday afternoon, is that an appropriate time?
COMMISSIONER: We'll do that at 10 am on Monday?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Councillor, that completes your evidence so far. I'm
grateful for your attendance and assistance today. We'll resume on Monday at 10 am.
So if you wouldn't mind being back here ready to go just before then I'd be most
grateful.

MR MANNOUN: Thank you, Commissioner.

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW

COMMISSIONER: Anything else to do this afternoon?

MS McDONALD: No.

COMMISSIONER: I'll adjourn until 10 am Monday. Thank you.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 3.59 PM
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